J. Eur. Math. Soc. 17, 2977-3013

DOI 10.4171/JEMS/577

© European Mathematical Society 2015



Lee DeVille · Eugene Lerman

Modular dynamical systems on networks

Received April 5, 2011 and in revised form January 14, 2013, and March 11, 2013

Abstract. We propose a new framework for the study of continuous time dynamical systems on networks. We view such dynamical systems as collections of interacting control systems. We show that a class of maps between graphs called *graph fibrations* give rise to maps between dynamical systems on networks. This allows us to produce conjugacy between dynamical systems out of combinatorial data. In particular we show that surjective graph fibrations lead to synchrony subspaces in networks. The injective graph fibrations, on the other hand, give rise to surjective maps from large dynamical systems to smaller ones. One can view these surjections as a kind of "fast/slow" variable decompositions or as "abstractions" in the computer science sense of the word.

Keywords. Dynamical systems, networks, modularity, graph fibrations

Contents

1.	Intro	duction
	1.1.	Overview
	1.2.	Background and previous work
	1.3.	The contributions of the paper
	1.4.	Motivating example
	1.5.	Main ideas of the paper
2.	Netw	vorks and dynamics on networks
	2.1.	Graphs, manifolds and networks
	2.2.	Open systems and their interconnections
	2.3.	Interconnections and graphs
	2.4.	Dependency
3.	Mod	ularity
	3.1.	Symmetry groupoid of a network
	3.2.	Groupoid-invariant vector fields
	3.3.	An alternative notion of modularity
4.	Fibra	tions and invariant virtual vector fields 299
	4.1.	Fibrations
	4.2.	Maps between spaces of invariant virtual vector fields
	4.3.	Fibrations and maps of dynamical systems
5.	Dyna	4.3.1 mical consequence of Theorem $4.3.1$
	5.1.	Surjective fibrations

L. DeVille, E. Lerman: Mathematics Department, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 1409 W. Green Street, Urbana, IL 61801, USA; e-mail: rdeville@illinois.edu, lerman@math.uiuc.edu

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): Primary 37C10; Secondary 37N99, 18A99

	5.2.	Injective fibrations)5	
	5.3.	General maps)6	
6.	Space	es of invariant virtual vector fields)7	
	6.1.	The space $\mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ as a product of spaces of fixed vectors $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 300$)7	
	6.2.	Maps between spaces of invariant virtual vector fields)9	
Re	References			

1. Introduction

1.1. Overview

A fundamental question in the study of dynamical systems is to determine the existence and properties of a map that intertwines the dynamics of two different systems. Stated concretely, given two manifolds M, N, and two flows $\varphi_t \colon M \to M, \psi_t \colon N \to N$, does there exist a map $h \colon M \to N$ such that

$$h \circ \varphi_t = \psi_t \circ h ? \tag{1.1.1}$$

Equivalently, given two manifolds and two vector fields $X: M \to TM, Y: N \to TN$, does there exist a map *h* such that

$$dh \circ X = Y \circ h ? \tag{1.1.2}$$

If there is an h that satisfies (1.1.1) or (1.1.2), then we call it a *map of dynamical systems*. Given such a map h, we would like to understand its properties and to compute it explicitly.

A common restriction requires that h be invertible. In this case, it is said that we have exhibited a *conjugacy* between the two dynamical systems, and this means that all of the dynamical features of the flow are the same.¹ The notion of conjugacy of dynamical systems goes back at least to Poincaré [4–6], it was further developed by Smale and collaborators [1, 7], and is now the basic notion in modern dynamical systems theory.

A more general notion of conjugacy arises from the relaxation of the assumption of invertibility; here, the existence of the map *h* still produces significant information. For example, the flow ψ_t has a fixed point iff we can exhibit a map $h: \{*\} \to N$, where $\{*\}$ is a one-point set, and *h* satisfies (1.1.1). If $M = S^1$ and the flow φ_t is given by $\varphi_t(e^{i\theta}) = e^{2\pi i t/T} e^{i\theta}$, then the existence of $h: M \to N$ satisfying (1.1.1) amounts to the flow ψ_t having a periodic orbit of period *T*.

It is also common for h to be chosen to be surjective. In this case the map is typically termed a *semiconjugacy* [2,8] and certain nice properties follow. We do not expand on this here, but we will exploit the existence of semiconjugacies for networked systems below in Section 5.

The question of determining whether a map relating two dynamical systems exists, and what its properties might be, is exceedingly difficult [9-12] in general. In some cases, even if such an *h* is known to exist, determining its form (or even qualitative properties) can be challenging.

¹ Note that what we mean by "the same" depends on the category in which we work. For instance if *h* is a homeomorphism then we say that the dynamical systems are topologically the same. Many of the implications of the existence of a conjugacy are worked out in [1-3].

In a different direction, dynamical systems defined on networks have become the fundamental object of study across a variety of fields. Some examples include the design of communication networks [13]; cognitive science, computational neuroscience, and robotics (see, for example [14–19]); gene regulatory networks [20–22] and more general complex biochemical networks [23]; and finally in complex active media [24–28].

There are multiple definitions in the literature of what it means to define a "dynamical system on a network" and we will not compare them here. A common thread running through these definitions is that imposing a network structure on a dynamical system should mean that component j of the system depends upon component i of the system iff the underlying graph has an edge $i \rightarrow j$.

In this paper we show that an imposition of a "network structure" on a dynamical system allows us to produce maps between dynamical systems in a precise, computable and combinatorial manner from finite data. Thus the purpose of this manuscript is twofold: first, to present a notion of a dynamical system "consistent with a graph"; second, to show that certain maps between graphs induce maps between the dynamical systems that live on them. In particular, we will show below that all graph maps that respect a particular combinatorial structure induce maps between the dynamical systems living on these graphs.

We focus on the case where the dynamics is modeled by vector fields on manifolds. The interactions of subsystems are coded by directed (multi-)graphs with "labels". These labels in particular assign to each node of a graph the phase space of the relevant subsystem. The ideas of the paper can be extended to both discrete-time, hybrid and stochastic systems, and we plan to do so in future work.

As stated above, the main result of the paper is the construction of maps of dynamical systems from maps of labeled graphs. In particular we show that surjective maps of graphs, such as the one arising from quotienting a graph by an appropriate equivalence relation, give rise to embeddings of dynamical systems; second, injective maps of graphs give rise to submersions of the corresponding phase spaces and surjective maps of dynamical systems. The former is very useful in characterizing the "modularity" of a networked dynamical system; the latter gives a precise mathematical formulation of some intuitive notions of whether and how we can think of a large dynamical system driven by a subsystem.

1.2. Background and previous work

The present paper is inspired by several distinct bodies of work that are well known in the applied mathematics communities.

The first body of work has been mainly applied to chemical reaction systems, and, in some specific cases, to Petri nets; this work has been used in both the deterministic and stochastic settings. One of the earliest results in this direction is the "zero deficiency theorem" of Feinberg [29–34], first used to show the existence of stable equilibria in biochemical systems and then expanded to statements about the existence and structure of the equilibria in stochastic biochemical systems [35]. This type of methodology has also been expanded to Petri nets [36–38] and models describing gene regulatory networks [21].

The second body of work is due to Golubitsky, Stewart, and various collaborators [39–63]. These authors considered a notion of ODEs (vector fields defined on Euclidean spaces) that were consistent with a graph structure. The resulting networks are called coupled cell systems and the approach the groupoid formalism. The main idea was to consider "balanced" equivalence relations on the vertices of a graph. They showed that these relations lead to the existence of certain invariant subspaces termed "polydiagonals." We will see that the quotient maps resulting from balanced equivalence relations are instances of graph fibration in the sense of Boldi and Vigna [64]. However, while we are greatly indebted to this body of work for its intellectual inspiration, we also point out that our approach differs from this work in some very specific ways. We elucidate the connections and contrasts in Remark 4.3.3 below.

An alternative approach to coupled cell systems has been developed by Field and collaborators [65–67]. They also considered ODEs and other types of dynamical systems consistent with directed graphs. This approach is considered to be broadly equivalent to that of Golubitsky et al.

1.3. The contributions of the paper

In this paper we propose a new framework for the study of continuous time dynamical systems on networks. We view such dynamical systems as collections of interacting control systems. We show that a class of maps between graphs called *graph fibrations* give rise to maps between dynamical systems on networks. This allows us to produce conjugacy between dynamical systems out of combinatorial data. While the current work is certainly inspired by the methods and results of both the Feinberg et al., Golubitsky et al. and, to a lesser extent, Field et al. groups, our approach and results differ in several important respects.

1. Our basic philosophy is that of category theory—so rather than study dynamical systems one at a time we aim to study maps between all relevant dynamical systems at once. To quote Silverman [68]:

A meta-mathematical principle is that one first studies (isomorphism classes of) objects, then one studies the maps between objects that preserve the objects' properties, then the maps themselves become objects for study and one tries to put a "nice" structure on the collection of maps (often modulo some equivalence relation).

- 2. Our set-up is coordinate-free and works for vector fields on manifolds, not just \mathbb{R}^n . In this case we are enlarging both the scope of the Feinberg et al. work (polynomial vector fields on positive orthants) and that of Golubitsky et al. (vector fields on Euclidean spaces). This aspect of our approach is similar to the work of Field et al. There are several motivations for working on manifolds as opposed to ODEs living in Euclidean spaces. These include dealing effectively with constraints, and extending the results to the setting of geometrical mechanics.
- 3. It will be evident from the construction below that the quotient maps of graphs by balanced equivalence relations of [60] are special cases of graph fibrations—they are the surjective graph fibrations. However, even in the case of surjective graph fibrations our

maps of dynamical systems have the opposite direction from the maps in the groupoid formalism. Rather than restricting from polydiagonals we extend from polydiagonals. This allows us to deal with surjective and general graph fibration on the same footing.

1.4. Motivating example

Consider an ODE in $(\mathbb{R}^n)^3$ of the form

$$\dot{x}_1 = f(x_2), \quad \dot{x}_2 = f(x_1), \quad \dot{x}_3 = f(x_2)$$
 (1.4.1)

for some smooth function $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$. That is, consider the flow of the vector field

$$F: (\mathbb{R}^n)^3 \to (\mathbb{R}^n)^3, \quad F(x_1, x_2, x_3) = (f(x_2), f(x_1), f(x_2)).$$

It is easy to check that F is tangent to the diagonal

~

$$\mathbb{R}^{n} \simeq \Delta = \{ (x_1, x_2, x_3) \in (\mathbb{R}^{n})^3 \mid x_1 = x_2 = x_3 \}$$

and that the restriction of the flow of F to Δ is the flow of the ODE

~

$$\dot{u}=f(u).$$

One can also see another invariant submanifold of F:

$$(\mathbb{R}^n)^2 \simeq \Delta' = \{(x_1, x_2, x_3) \in (\mathbb{R}^n)^3 \mid x_1 = x_3\}.$$

On Δ' the flow of *F* is the flow of the ODE

$$\dot{v}_1 = f(v_2), \quad \dot{v}_2 = f(v_1).$$

Moreover the projection

$$\pi : (\mathbb{R}^n)^3 \to \Delta', \quad \pi(x_1, x_2, x_3) = (x_1, x_2, x_1),$$

intertwines the flows of *F* on $(\mathbb{R}^n)^3$ and on Δ' . We have thus observed two subsystems of $((\mathbb{R}^n)^3, F)$ and three maps between the three dynamical systems:

$$(\Delta, F|_{\Delta}) \hookrightarrow ((\mathbb{R}^n)^3, F) \stackrel{\longleftrightarrow}{\xrightarrow{\pi}} (\Delta', F|_{\Delta'})$$
(1.4.2)

Where do these subsystems and maps come from? There is no obvious symmetry of $(\mathbb{R}^n)^3$ that preserves the vector field *F* and fixes the diagonal Δ and thus could account for the existence of this invariant submanifold. Nor is there any *F*-preserving symmetry that fixes Δ' . In fact the vector field *F* does not seem to have any symmetry. The graph *G* recording the interdependence of the variables (x_1, x_2, x_3) in the ODE (1.4.1) has three vertices and three arrows:

$$G = (1) (1.4.3)$$

The graph has no non-trivial symmetries. Nonetheless, the existence of the subsystems $(\Delta, F|_{\Delta})$, $(\Delta', F|_{\Delta'})$ and the whole diagram of the dynamical systems (1.4.2) can be deduced from certain properties of the graph *G*. There are two surjective maps of graphs:

$$\varphi: G \to \bigcirc$$
 and $\psi: G \to \bigcirc$ b

with ψ defined on the vertices by $\psi(2) = b$, $\psi(1) = a = \psi(3)$, and one embedding

$$\tau: a \qquad b \qquad \hookrightarrow \qquad 1 \qquad 2 \qquad 3$$

We can collect all of these maps into one diagram

$$\underbrace{\varphi}_{\psi} (1, 4.4)$$

A comparison of (1.4.2) and (1.4.4) evokes a pattern: for every map which intertwines dynamical systems in (1.4.2), there is a corresponding map of graphs in (1.4.4) with the arrows reversed, and vice versa.

The same pattern holds when we replace the vector space \mathbb{R}^n by an arbitrary manifold M. Given a pair of manifolds U and N, we think of a map $X : U \times N \to TN$ with $X(u, n) \in T_n N$ as a control system with the points of U controlling the dynamics on N. Now consider a vector field

$$F: M^3 \to T(M^3) = TM \times TM \times TM$$

of the form

$$F(x_1, x_2, x_3) = (f(x_2, x_1), f(x_1, x_2), f(x_2, x_3))$$

for some control system

$$f: M \times M \to TM$$
 with $f(u, v) \in T_v M$

Then once again the three maps of graphs in the diagram (1.4.4) give rise to maps of dynamical systems

$$(\Delta_M, F|_{\Delta_M}) \hookrightarrow (M^3, F) \stackrel{\longleftrightarrow}{\xrightarrow{}} (\Delta'_M, F|_{\Delta'_M})$$
(1.4.5)

What accounts for the patterns we have seen? Notice that the dynamical systems (1.4.5) are constructed out of *one* control system $f : M \times M \rightarrow TM$. At the same time, in each of the graphs in (1.4.4), every vertex has exactly *one* incoming arc. This is not a coincidence. The rough idea for the technology which generalizes this example is this: if we have a dynamical system made up of repeated control system modules whose couplings are encoded in graphs, then the appropriate maps of graphs lift to maps of dynamical systems. Making this precise requires a number of constructions and theorems; these make up the bulk of this paper.

1.5. Main ideas of the paper

We study *dependency* and *modularity* of networks and their effect on the concomitant dynamical systems.

By *dependency* we mean the following. Each node in a network corresponds to a single dynamical variable living on a particular manifold. We then require that the variable corresponding to node *i* can depend on the variable corresponding to node *j* iff there is an edge in the graph from node *j* to node *i*. We give a more precise description of this requirement below and we will denote the space all vector fields with this property by $\mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P})$; see Section 2.4 below for a definition.

The rough idea of *modularity* is that if we ever have multiple nodes of the graph that are "the same" and have "the same" inputs, then we require that these nodes are interchangeable in the dynamical system. Speaking more precisely, we will assume that in each network, each node has a "type" (it will, in fact, be a manifold attached to this node which corresponds to the phase space of the variables associated to that node), and if we ever see two nodes, each with type x, with n inputs in the graph, such that these inputs are of type x_1, \ldots, x_n , then the vector field defined on these two nodes must depend on their inputs in exactly the same manner. We will denote all vector fields that respect this principle of modularity as $\mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ and give a precise definition of these vector fields in Section 3.

In the example in the previous subsection, the principle of *dependency* tells us that the system living on the graph in (1.4.3) must be of the form

$$\dot{x}_1 = f(x_1, x_2), \quad \dot{x}_2 = g(x_2, x_1), \quad \dot{x}_3 = h(x_3, x_2),$$
 (1.5.1)

but x_1 cannot depend on x_3 , for example. The principle of *modularity* tells us that the functions f, g, h must all be the same, i.e.

$$\dot{x}_1 = f(x_1, x_2), \quad \dot{x}_2 = f(x_2, x_1), \quad \dot{x}_3 = f(x_3, x_2),$$
(1.5.2)

Therefore, all systems in $\mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P})$ must satisfy (1.5.1), but those in $\mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ must satisfy the stricter requirements (1.5.2).

2. Networks and dynamics on networks

The goal of this section is to define networks and dynamics on networks in the context of continuous time dynamical systems. It is not uncommon to read that "a network is a graph." This could not be a complete story since by a network one usually means a collection of interconnected subsystems. We now make this precise.

2.1. Graphs, manifolds and networks

Throughout the paper, *graphs* are directed multigraphs, possibly with loops and multiple edges between nodes. More precisely, we use the following definition:

2.1.1. Definition. A graph G consists of two sets, G_1 (of arrows, or edges), G_0 (of nodes, or vertices), and two maps $s, t : G_1 \to G_0$ (source, target):

$$G = \{s, t \colon G_1 \to G_0\}.$$

We write $G = \{G_1 \rightrightarrows G_0\}$. A graph G is *finite* if it has finitely many arrows and edges.

2.1.2. Definition. A map of graphs $\varphi : A \to B$ from a graph A to a graph B is a pair of maps $\varphi_1 : A_1 \to B_1, \varphi_0 : A_0 \to B_0$ taking edges of A to edges of B, and nodes of A to nodes of B, so that for any edge γ of A we have

$$\varphi_0(s(\gamma)) = s(\varphi_1(\gamma))$$
 and $\varphi_0(t(\gamma)) = t(\varphi_1(\gamma))$.

We will usually omit the indices 0 and 1 and write $\varphi(\gamma)$ for $\varphi_1(\gamma)$ and $\varphi(a)$ for $\varphi_0(a)$.

2.1.3. Remark. The collection of graphs and maps of graphs form a category Graph. The subcollection of finite graphs and maps of graphs forms a full subcategory FinGraph.

To construct a network from a graph we need to attach phase spaces to its vertices. Since we are interested in continuous time dynamical systems, we choose phase spaces to be (finite-dimensional paracompact Hausdorff) manifolds. Other choices, of course, may also be reasonable, such as coordinate vector spaces \mathbb{R}^n or manifolds with corners.

2.1.4. Definition (Network). A *network* is a pair (G, \mathcal{P}) where G is a finite graph and \mathcal{P} is a function that assigns to each node $a \in G_0$ of G a manifold $\mathcal{P}(a)$. We refer to \mathcal{P} as a *phase space function*. Note that the target of the function \mathcal{P} is the collection Man of all manifolds: $\mathcal{P} : G_0 \to Man$.

A map of networks from (G, \mathcal{P}) to (G', \mathcal{P}') is a map of graphs $\varphi : G \to G'$ such that

 $\mathcal{P}' \circ \varphi = \mathcal{P}.$

2.1.5. Remark. It is easy to see that composition of two maps of networks is again a map of networks. In other words networks form a category. We denote it by FinGraph/Man.

Given a network (G, \mathcal{P}) as defined above, a state of the network is completely determined by the states of its nodes. Hence the total phase space of the network should be the product

$$\mathbb{P}(G,\mathcal{P}) := \prod_{a \in G_0} \mathcal{P}(a).$$

Note, however, a small issue: there is no natural ordering on the vertices of the graph G. We could *choose* an ordering (a_1, \ldots, a_n) of the vertices and define the total phase space as the Cartesian product

$$\mathbb{P}(G,\mathcal{P}) := \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{P}(a_i).$$

However, it will be convenient *not* to choose an ordering of vertices and use a slightly different notion of product. This version of the product is used, for example, in chemical reaction network literature [37].

2.1.6. Definition. Given a family $\{M_s\}_{s \in S}$ of manifolds indexed by a finite set *S*, denote by $\bigsqcup_{s \in S} M_s$ their disjoint union.² The *categorical product* of the family $\{M_s\}_{s \in S}$ is the

² The disjoint union may be defined by $\bigsqcup_{s \in S} M_s := \bigcup_{s \in S} (M_s \times \{s\}).$

manifold

$$\prod_{s \in S} M_s := \left\{ x : S \to \bigsqcup_{s \in S} M_s \mid x(s) \in M_s \text{ for all } s \in S \right\}.$$

We note that for each $s \in S$ we have a projection map $\pi_s : \prod_{s' \in S} M_{s'} \to M_s$ defined by

$$\pi_s(x) = x(s).$$

These projections are surjective submersions.

We denote $x(s) \in M_s$ by x_s and think of it as the s^{th} "coordinate" of an element $x \in \prod_{s \in S} M_s$. Equivalently we may think of elements of the categorical product $\prod_{s \in S} M_s$ as *unordered* tuples $(x_s)_{s \in S}$ with $x_s \in M_s$.

2.1.7. Remark. It is not hard to show that the categorical product, as defined above, has the following universal property: given a manifold N and a family $\{f_s : N \to M_s\}_{s \in S}$ of smooth maps there is a unique map $f : N \to \prod_{s \in S} M_s$ with

$$\pi_s \circ f = f_s \quad \text{for all } s \in S.$$

In fact categorical products are usually *defined* by this universal property [69].

2.1.8. Remark. For a family $\{M_s\}_{s \in S}$ of manifolds indexed by a finite set *S*, every ordering $\{s_1, \ldots, s_n\}$ of elements of *S* identifies the categorical product $\prod_{s \in S} M_s$ (as a manifold) with the Cartesian product $M_{s_1} \times \cdots \times M_{s_n}$.

We are now in a position to state:

2.1.9. Definition (total phase space of a network (G, \mathcal{P})). For a pair (G, \mathcal{P}) consisting of a graph G and a phase space function \mathcal{P} we define the *total phase space* of the network (G, \mathcal{P}) to be the manifold

$$\mathbb{P}G \equiv \mathbb{P}(G, \mathcal{P}) := \prod_{a \in G_0} \mathcal{P}(a),$$

the categorical product of manifolds attached to the nodes of G by the phase space function \mathcal{P} .

2.1.10. Example. Consider the graph



Define $\mathcal{P} : G_0 \to \text{Man by } \mathcal{P}(a) = S^2$ (the two-sphere) and $\mathcal{P}(b) = S^3$. Then the total phase space $\mathbb{P}(G, \mathcal{P})$ is the Cartesian product $S^2 \times S^3$.

2.1.11. Notation. If $G = \{\emptyset \rightrightarrows \{a\}\}$ is a graph with one node *a* and no arrows, we write $G = \{a\}$. Then for any phase space function $\mathcal{P} : G_0 = \{a\} \rightarrow M$ an we abbreviate $\mathbb{P}(\{\emptyset \rightrightarrows \{a\}\}, \mathcal{P} : \{a\} \rightarrow M$ an) = $\mathbb{P}(\{a\}, \mathcal{P} : \{a\} \rightarrow M$ an) as $\mathbb{P}a$.

2.1.12. Proposition. A map of networks $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ naturally defines a map of corresponding total phase spaces

$$\mathbb{P}\varphi:\mathbb{P}G'\to\mathbb{P}G.$$

Proof. We use the universal property of the product $\mathbb{P}G = \prod_{a \in G_0} \mathcal{P}(a)$. To define a map f from any manifold N to $\mathbb{P}G$ it is enough to define a family $\{f_a : N \to \mathcal{P}(a)\}_{a \in G_0}$ of maps. For any node a' of G' we have the canonical projection

$$\pi'_{a'}: \mathbb{P}G' \to \mathcal{P}'(a').$$

We therefore define

$$(\mathbb{P}\varphi)_a := \pi'_{\varphi(a)} : \mathbb{P}G' \to \mathcal{P}'(\varphi(a)) = \mathcal{P}(a)$$

for all $a \in G_0$.

2.1.13. Example. Suppose *G* is a graph with two nodes *a*, *b* and no edges, *G'* is a graph with one node {*c*} and no edges, $\mathcal{P}'(c)$ is a manifold $M, \varphi : G \to G'$ is the only possible map of graphs (it sends both nodes to *c*), and $\mathcal{P} : G_0 \to M$ an is given by $\mathcal{P}(a) = M = \mathcal{P}(b)$ (so that $\mathcal{P}' \circ \varphi = \mathcal{P}$). Then $\mathbb{P}G' \simeq M$,

$$\mathbb{P}G = \{(x_a, x_b) \mid x_a \in \mathcal{P}(a), x_b \in \mathcal{P}(b)\} \simeq M \times M$$

and $\mathbb{P}\varphi : M \to M \times M$ is the unique map with $(\mathbb{P}\varphi(x))_a = x$ and $(\mathbb{P}\varphi(x))_b = x$ for all $x \in \mathbb{P}G'$. Thus $\mathbb{P}\varphi : M \to M \times M$ is the diagonal map $x \mapsto (x, x)$.

2.1.14. Example. Let (G, \mathcal{P}) , (G', \mathcal{P}') be as in Example 2.1.13 and $\psi : (G', \mathcal{P}') \to (G, \mathcal{P})$ be the map that sends the node *c* to *a*. Then $\mathbb{P}\psi : \mathbb{P}G \to \mathbb{P}G'$ sends (x_a, x_b) to x_a .

2.1.15. Remark. It is not hard to show that if a map of networks $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ is *surjective* on vertices then $\mathbb{P}\varphi : \mathbb{P}G' \to \mathbb{P}G$ is an *embedding*. If, on the other hand, φ is *injective* on vertices, then $\mathbb{P}\varphi$ is a surjective submersion.

2.1.16. Remark. The total phase space map \mathbb{P} : FinGraph/Man \rightarrow Man is a contravariant functor: given two maps of networks

 $(G,\mathcal{P})\xrightarrow{\varphi}(G',\mathcal{P}')\xrightarrow{\psi}(G'',\mathcal{P}'')$

we have

$$\mathbb{P}(\psi \circ \varphi) = \mathbb{P}\varphi \circ \mathbb{P}\psi. \tag{2.1.1}$$

To indicate that \mathbb{P} reverses the direction of maps we write

$$\mathbb{P}: (\mathsf{FinGraph}/\mathsf{Man})^{\circ \mathsf{p}} \to \mathsf{Man}.$$

The superscript ^{op} stands for the opposite category, i.e., the category with the same objects but all the arrows reversed.

2.2. Open systems and their interconnections

Having set up a consistent way of assigning phase spaces to graphs (that is, having set up networks of manifolds) we now take up a construction of continuous time dynamical systems compatible with the structure of the network. We build vector fields on total phase spaces of networks by interconnecting appropriate open systems. Our notion of interconnection is borrowed, to some extent, from the control theory literature. See, for example, Willems [70]. We therefore start by recalling a definition of an open (control) systems, which is essentially due to Brockett [71].

2.2.1. Definition. A *continuous time control system* (or an *open system*) on a manifold M is a surjective submersion $p: Q \to M$ and a smooth map $F: Q \to TM$ such that

$$F(q)\in T_{p(q)}M$$

for all $q \in Q$ (cf., for example, [72]). That is, the diagram

$$Q \xrightarrow{F} TM$$

$$\downarrow^{\pi}$$

$$M$$

commutes, where $\pi : TM \to M$ is the canonical projection.

2.2.2. Given a manifold U of "control variables" we may consider control systems of the form

$$F: M \times U \to TM. \tag{2.2.1}$$

Here the submersion $p: M \times U \to M$ is given by p(x, u) = x. The collection of all such control systems forms a vector space that we denote by $Ctrl(M \times U \to M)$:

$$\mathsf{Ctrl}(M \times U \to M) := \{F : M \times U \to TM \mid F(x, u) \in T_x M\}$$

2.2.3. Notation (Space of sections of a vector bundle). Given a vector bundle $E \to M$ we denote the *space of sections* of $E \to M$ by ΓE or by $\Gamma(E)$.

Now suppose we are given a finite family $\{F_i : M_i \times U_i \to TM_i\}_{i=1}^N$ of control systems and we want to somehow interconnect them to obtain a closed system $\mathscr{I}(F_1, \ldots, F_N)$. This closed system is a vector field on the product $\prod_i M_i$. That is, $\mathscr{I}(F_1, \ldots, F_N)$ is a section of the tangent bundle $T(\prod_i M_i) \to \prod_i M_i$. What additional data do we need to define the interconnection map

$$\mathscr{I}: \prod_{i} \operatorname{Ctrl}(M_i \times U_i \to M_i) \to \Gamma\left(T\left(\prod_{i} M_i\right)\right)?$$

The answer is given by the following proposition:

2.2.4. Proposition. Given a family $\{p_j : M_j \times U_j \to M_j\}_{j=1}^N$ of projections and a family $\{s_j : \prod M_i \to M_j \times U_j\}$ of smooth maps such that the diagrams

$$\begin{array}{c|c} M_j \times U_j \\ & s_j & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & &$$

commute for each *j*, there is an interconnection map *I* making the diagrams

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \bigcap_{i} \operatorname{Ctrl}(M_{i} \times U_{i} \to M_{i}) & \xrightarrow{\mathscr{I}} & \Gamma(T(\bigcap_{i} M_{i})) \\ & & & & \downarrow^{\pi_{j}} & & \downarrow^{\varpi_{j}=D(\operatorname{pr}_{j})\circ -} \\ \operatorname{Ctrl}(M_{j} \times U_{j} \to M_{j}) & \xrightarrow{\mathscr{I}_{j}} & \operatorname{Ctrl}(\bigcap_{i} M_{i} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_{j}} M_{j}) \end{array}$$

commute for each *j*. The components \mathscr{I}_j of the interconnection map \mathscr{I} are defined by $\mathscr{I}_j(F_j) := F_j \circ s_j$ for all *j*.

Proof. The space $\Gamma(T(\prod_i M_i))$ of vector fields on $\prod_i M_i$ is the product of the vector spaces $\operatorname{Ctrl}(\prod_i M_i \to M_j)$:

$$\Gamma\left(T\left(\prod_{i} M_{i}\right)\right) = \prod_{j} \operatorname{Ctrl}\left(\prod_{i} M_{i} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_{j}} M_{j}\right).$$

In other words, a vector field X on $\prod_i M_i$ is a tuple $X = (X_1, \ldots, X_N)$, where

$$X_i := D(\mathrm{pr}_i) \circ X.$$

(Here $D(\text{pr}_j) : T(\bigcap M_i) \to TM_j$) denotes the differential of the canonical projection $\text{pr}_j : \bigcap M_i \to M_j$.) Each component $X_j : \bigcap_i M_i \to TM_i$ is a control system.

To define a map from a vector space into a product of vector spaces it is enough to define a map into each of the factors. We have the canonical projections

$$\pi_j: \prod_i \operatorname{Ctrl}(M_i \times U_i \to M_i) \to \operatorname{Ctrl}(M_j \times U_j \to M_j), \quad j = 1, \dots, N.$$

Consequently, to define the interconnection map \mathcal{I} it is enough to define maps

$$\mathscr{I}_j: \operatorname{Ctrl}(M_j \times U_j \to M_j) \to \operatorname{Ctrl}\left(\prod_i M_i \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_j} M_j\right)$$

for each j. We set

$$\mathscr{I}_j(F_j) := F_j \circ s_j.$$

2.2.5. Remark. It will be useful for us to remember that the canonical projections

$$\varpi_j: \Gamma\left(T\left(\prod M_i\right)\right) \to \operatorname{Ctrl}\left(\prod M_i \to M_j\right)$$

are given by

$$\varpi_j(X) = D(\mathrm{pr}_j) \circ X.$$

2.3. Interconnections and graphs

We next explain how networks of manifolds give rise to interconnection maps. To do this precisely it is useful to have a notion of *input trees* of a directed graph. Given a graph, an input tree I(a) of a vertex a is roughly the vertex itself and all of the arrows leading into it. We want to think of this as a graph in its own right, as follows.

2.3.1. Definition (Input tree). The *input tree* I(a) at a vertex a of a graph G is the graph with the set of vertices

$$I(a)_0 := \{a\} \sqcup t^{-1}(a),$$

where, as before, $t^{-1}(a)$ is the set of arrows in *G* with target *a*. The set of edges $I(a)_1$ of the input tree is

$$I(a)_1 := \{(a, \gamma) \mid \gamma \in G_1, t(\gamma) = a\},\$$

and the source and target maps $I(a)_1 \rightrightarrows I(a)_0$ are defined by

$$s(a, \gamma) = \gamma$$
 and $t(a, \gamma) = a$

In pictures,

$$\gamma$$
 (a,γ) (a)

2.3.2. Example. Consider the graph $G = \alpha$ b as in Example 2.1.10. Then

the input tree I(a) is the graph with one node a and no edges:

$$I(a) = \bigcirc a$$

The input tree I(b) has three nodes and two edges:

$$I(b) = \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} \alpha & (b,\alpha) \\ & & \\ \beta & & \\ & &$$

2.3.3. Remark. For each node a of a graph G we have a natural map of graphs

$$\xi = \xi_a : I(a) \to G, \quad \xi_a(a, \gamma) = \gamma.$$

We stress that this need not be injective on nodes. For instance in Example 2.3.2 the map $\xi_b : I(b) \to G$ sends the nodes α and β to the same node a.

2.3.4. Example. Consider the graph



The four input trees of G are the graphs



2.3.5. Remark. The input tree I(a) of a graph G is a directed tree of height 1: for any vertex x of I(a) with $x \neq a$ there is exactly one edge with source x and target a. Also a is the only vertex of I(a) which is not a source of any edge (it is a *root* of I(a)), and the other vertices of I(a) cannot be targets of any edges (they are *leaves* of I(a)).

2.3.6. Remark. It follows from Remark 2.3.5 above that if $\varphi : I(a) \to I(b)$ is an isomorphism of two input trees (these graphs may be input trees of two different graphs) then necessarily $\varphi(a) = b$.

2.3.7. Remark. Given a network (G, \mathcal{P}) and a map of graphs $\varphi : H \to G$ we get a map of networks $\varphi : (H, \mathcal{P} \circ \varphi) \to (G, \mathcal{P})$, hence a map of manifolds $\mathbb{P}\varphi : \mathbb{P}G \to \mathbb{P}H$.

2.3.8. Let (G, \mathcal{P}) be a network and let *a* be a node of *G*. Consider the graph $\{a\}$ with one node and no arrows. Denote the inclusion of $\{a\}$ in *G* by ι_a and the inclusion into its input tree I(a) by j_a . Then the diagram

$$\{a\} \xrightarrow{j_a} I(a)$$

commutes. By Remarks 2.3.7 and 2.1.16 we have a commuting diagram of maps of manifolds



2.3.9. Let us now examine more closely the map $\mathbb{P}_{j_a} : \mathbb{P}_{I(a)} \to \mathbb{P}_a$ in 2.3.8 above. Since the set of nodes $I(a)_0$ of the input tree I(a) is the disjoint union

$$I(a)_0 = \{a\} \sqcup t^{-1}(a),$$

and since $\xi_a(\gamma)$ is the source $s(\gamma)$ for any $\gamma \in t^{-1}(a) \subset I(a)_0$, we have

$$\mathbb{P}I(a) = \mathcal{P}(a) \times \prod_{\gamma \in t^{-1}(a)} \mathcal{P}(s(\gamma)).$$

Since $j_a : \{a\} \to I(a)_0 = \{a\} \sqcup t^{-1}(a)$ is the inclusion, $\mathbb{P}j_a : \mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a$ is the projection

$$\mathcal{P}(a) \times \prod_{\gamma \in t^{-1}(a)} \mathcal{P}(s(\gamma)) \to \mathcal{P}(a).$$

Similarly $\mathbb{P}\iota_a : \mathbb{P}G \to \mathbb{P}a$ is the projection $\prod_{b \in G_0} \mathcal{P}(b) \to \mathcal{P}(a)$.

Putting 2.3.8 and 2.3.9 together we get

2.3.10. Proposition. For each node a of a network (G, \mathcal{P}) the diagrams



commute.

2.3.11. Example. Suppose G = a b is a graph as in Example 2.1.10 and

suppose $\mathcal{P}: G_0 \to Man$ is a phase space function. Then

$$\mathbb{P}I(b) = \mathcal{P}(a) \times \mathcal{P}(a) \times \mathcal{P}(b),$$

 \mathbb{P}_{j_b} is the projection $\mathcal{P}(a) \times \mathcal{P}(a) \times \mathcal{P}(b) \to \mathcal{P}(b)$ and

$$\operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(b) \to \mathbb{P}b) = \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathcal{P}(a) \times \mathcal{P}(a) \times \mathcal{P}(b) \to \mathcal{P}(b)).$$

On the other hand, $\mathbb{P}I(a) = \mathcal{P}(a), \mathbb{P}j_a : \mathcal{P}(a) \to \mathcal{P}(a)$ is the identity map and

$$\operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a) = \Gamma(T\mathcal{P}(a)),$$

the space of sections of the tangent bundle $T\mathcal{P}(a)$, that is, the space of vector fields on the manifold $\mathcal{P}(a)$.

2.4. Dependency

Given a network (G, \mathcal{P}) we have a product of vector spaces

$$\prod_{a \in G_0} \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a).$$

The elements of the product are unordered tuples $(w_a)_{a \in G_0}$ of control systems (cf. 2.1.6). We may think of them as sections of the vector bundle

$$\operatorname{Control}(G, \mathcal{P}) := \bigsqcup_{a \in G_0} \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a) \to G_0$$
(2.4.1)

over the vertices of *G*. This is the main reason for thinking of the collection $\{\operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a)\}_{a \in G_0}$ of infinite-dimensional vector spaces as a vector bundle over a finite set. It will be convenient to have a notation for the space of sections of the bundle $\operatorname{Control}(G, \mathcal{P}) \to G_0$.

2.4.1. Definition. Let (G, \mathcal{P}) be a network as above. We refer to the bundle Control (G, \mathcal{P}) $\rightarrow G_0$ as the *control bundle* of the network (G, \mathcal{P}) . We call the sections $(w_a)_{a \in G_0}$ of the control bundle *virtual vector fields* on the network (G, \mathcal{P}) . We denote the space of sections by $\mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P})$. Thus

$$\mathbb{S}(G,\mathcal{P}) := \prod_{a \in G_0} \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a).$$

We now argue that an application of the interconnection map $\mathscr{I} : \mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P}) \to \Gamma T(\mathbb{P}(G, \mathcal{P}))$ turns these "virtual vector fields" into actual vector fields on the total phase space $\mathbb{P}(G, \mathcal{P})$ of the network. Indeed observe that Propositions 2.2.4 and 2.3.10 give us

2.4.2. Theorem. For a network (G, \mathcal{P}) there exists a natural interconnection map

$$\mathscr{I}: \prod_{a \in G_0} \mathsf{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a) \to \Gamma(T\mathbb{P}G))$$

with

$$\varpi_a \circ \mathscr{I}((w_b)_{b \in G_0}) = w_a \circ \mathbb{P}j_a$$

for all nodes $a \in G_0$. Here $\overline{\varpi}_a : \Gamma(T\mathbb{P}G) \to \mathsf{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}G_0 \xrightarrow{\mathbb{P}\iota_a} \mathbb{P}a)$ are the projection maps defined by $\overline{\varpi}_a(X) = D(\mathbb{P}\iota_a) \circ X$ (see Remark 2.2.5).

2.4.3. Example. Consider the graph G = a b as in Example 2.1.10 with

a phase space function $\mathcal{P}: G_0 \to Man$. Then the vector field

$$X = \mathscr{I}(w_a, w_b) : \mathcal{P}(a) \times \mathcal{P}(b) \to T\mathcal{P}(a) \times T\mathcal{P}(b)$$

is of the form

$$X(x, y) = (w_a(x), w_b(x, x, y))$$
 for all $(x, y) \in \mathcal{P}(a) \times \mathcal{P}(b)$.

If
$$G = (a)$$
 b $\rightarrow (c)$ and $\mathcal{P} : G_0 \rightarrow$ Man is a phase space function, then

$$(\mathscr{I}(w_a, w_b, w_c))(x, y, z) = (w_a(x), w_b(x, x, y), w_c(y, z))$$

for all $(w_a, w_b, w_c) \in \mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P})$ and all $(x, y, z) \in \mathcal{P}(a) \times \mathcal{P}(b) \times \mathcal{P}(c))$.

3. Modularity

3.1. Symmetry groupoid of a network

In this section we give one possible version of what it means for some of the open subsystems in the tuple $(w_a)_{a \in G_0} \in \mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P})$ of the constituent subsystems on a network (G, \mathcal{P}) to be "the same." We start with a pair of examples.

3.1.1. Example. Consider the graph



from Subsection 1.4. Choose a phase space function $\mathcal{P} : G_0 = \{1, 2, 3\} \to Man$ with $\mathcal{P}(1) = \mathcal{P}(2) = \mathcal{P}(3) = M$ for some manifold M. Then a typical tuple of open subsystems in $\mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P})$ that defines the dynamics on the network is a triple of the form $(f_1 : M \times M \to TM, f_2 : M \times M \to TM, f_3 : M \times M \to TM)$. It makes sense to require that $f_1 = f_2 = f_3$. We can do so because the input trees I(1), I(2), I(3) and the corresponding networks $(I(i), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_i), 1 \le i \le 3$, are all isomorphic (here as before $\xi_i : I(i) \to G$ are the canonical maps, see Remark 2.3.3).

3.1.2. Example. Consider the graph



Again define a phase function \mathcal{P} by setting $\mathcal{P}(i)$ to be the same manifold M for all i. An element of $\mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P})$ is then of the form

$$(f_1: M \to TM, f_2: M \to TM, f_3: M \times M \times M \to TM, f_4: M \times M \times M \to TM).$$

Now it does not make sense to require that $f_3 = f_1$ but it does make sense to require that $f_1 = f_2$ and $f_3 = f_4$ (!). Note that in this example the networks $(I(1), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_1)$ and $(I(2), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_2)$ are isomorphic, as are the networks $(I(3), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_3)$ and $(I(4), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_4)$.

If we were to set $\mathcal{P}(1) = \mathcal{P}(2) = \mathcal{P}(3) = M$ and $\mathcal{P}(4) = N \neq M$, then an element of $\mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P})$ would be of the form

$$(f_1: M \to TM, f_2: M \to TM, f_3: M \times M \times M \to TM, f_4: M \times M \times N \to TN).$$

In this case setting $f_1 = f_2$ would make sense but setting $f_3 = f_4$ would not. And while $(I(1), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_1)$ and $(I(2), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_2)$ would still be isomorphic, the networks $(I(3), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_3)$ and $(I(4), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_4)$ would not.

3.1.3. Remark. In Example 3.1.1 there are 3² isomorphisms

$$\varphi_{ij}: (I(j), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_j) \to (I(i), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_i), \quad 1 \le i, j \le 3,$$

with

$$\varphi_{ij} \circ \varphi_{jk} = \varphi_{ik}$$
 for all i, j, k ,
 $\varphi_{ii} = id$ for all i

(and consequently $\varphi_{ji} = \varphi_{ij}^{-1}$). These nine maps are an example of a groupoid.

We recall the shortest definition of a groupoid:

3.1.4. Definition. A groupoid is a category with every morphism an isomorphism.

3.1.5. Remark. One may think of a groupoid \mathbb{H} as a directed graph $\{\mathbb{H}_1 \rightrightarrows \mathbb{H}_0\}$ together with an associative multiplication of pairs of edges with matched source and target:

$$(a \stackrel{\alpha}{\leftarrow} b \stackrel{\beta}{\leftarrow} c) \mapsto (a \stackrel{\alpha\beta}{\leftarrow} b),$$

an inversion map

$$(a \stackrel{\alpha}{\leftarrow} b) \mapsto (a \stackrel{\alpha^{-1}}{\longrightarrow} b),$$

and a unit edge $id_a : a \to a$ for every vertex a of \mathbb{H} . We refer to the elements of \mathbb{H}_0 as the *objects* of the groupoid \mathbb{H} and to the elements of \mathbb{H}_1 as *isomorphisms* of \mathbb{H} .

3.1.6. Example. In Remark 3.1.3 the groupoid \mathbb{G} associated to the network (G, \mathcal{P}) has three objects, namely the networks $(I(i), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_i), 1 \le i \le 3$, and nine isomorphisms $\varphi_{ij}, 1 \le i, j \le 3$. For the corresponding graph see (3.1.1) below.

3.1.7. Definition (Symmetry groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ of a network). The symmetry groupoid $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ of a network (G, \mathcal{P}) is a category with the following sets of objects and isomorphisms. The set \mathbb{G}_0 of objects of \mathbb{G} is the set of input networks

$$\{(I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a)\}_{a \in G_0}.$$

The set \mathbb{G}_1 of isomorphisms of \mathbb{G} is the set of all possible isomorphisms of the input networks.

3.1.8. Example. Consider the network of Example 3.1.1. As already pointed out, the symmetry groupoid \mathbb{G} of this network has three objects and nine isomorphisms. It can be pictured as follows:



3.2. Groupoid-invariant vector fields

Given a network (G, \mathcal{P}) with a groupoid symmetry we should be able to talk about invariant elements of the vector space $\mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P})$ of constituent open subsystems. This is indeed the case. There are several ways of making sense of invariants. The most concrete cuts out the subspace of invariants by appropriate equations. To set this up we need a number of short technical lemmas. We formulate them in a generality that is not needed immediately but will be useful later. The point of the lemmas is to prove that for a given a network (G, \mathcal{P}) there is a natural action of its symmetry groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ on the vector bundle Control $(G, \mathcal{P}) \to G_0$.

We start by spelling out what we mean by the action of $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ on $\mathsf{Control}(G, \mathcal{P})$.

3.2.1. Notation. Denote the category of real vector spaces and linear maps by Vect.

3.2.2. Definition. An action of the groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ on the vector bundle $\text{Control}(G, \mathcal{P})$ is a functor

$$\rho : \mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P}) \to \mathsf{Vect}$$

such that

$$\rho(I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a) = \mathsf{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a)$$

for all nodes *a* of *G*. Here, as above, Vect denotes the category of vector spaces and linear maps.

3.2.3. Remark. The definition amounts to the following:

1. For any two vertices $a, b \in G_0$ and an isomorphism $\varphi : (I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a) \to (I(b), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_b)$ in the groupoid \mathbb{G} , there is an isomorphism

$$\rho(\varphi) : \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a) \to \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(b) \to \mathbb{P}b).$$

2. If $(I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a) \xrightarrow{\varphi} (I(b), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_b) \xrightarrow{\psi} (I(c), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_c)$ is a pair of isomorphisms in \mathbb{G} then

$$\rho(\psi \circ \varphi) = \rho(\psi) \circ \rho(\varphi).$$

3. If $\varphi : I(a) \to I(a)$ is the identity isomorphism then $\rho(\varphi)$ is the identity linear map.

The notion of an action of a groupoid on a vector bundle is fairly old: see, for example, [73]. In the case where the vector bundle in question is a collection of vector spaces parameterized by a finite set of objects of the groupoid, as is the case for Control(G, P), it reduces to Definition 3.2.2 above.

3.2.4. Lemma. Suppose $\psi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ is an isomorphism of networks. Then $\mathbb{P}\psi : \mathbb{P}G' \to \mathbb{P}G$ is a diffeomorphism.

Proof. Let ψ^{-1} denote the inverse of ψ . Then $\psi \circ \psi^{-1} = id_{(G,\mathcal{P})}$ and $\psi^{-1} \circ \psi = id_{(G',\mathcal{P}')}$. Hence

$$\operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{P}G} = \mathbb{P}\operatorname{id}_{(G,\mathcal{P})} = \mathbb{P}(\psi \circ \psi^{-1}) = \mathbb{P}(\psi^{-1}) \circ \mathbb{P}\psi.$$

By the same argument $id_{\mathbb{P}G'} = \mathbb{P}\psi \circ \mathbb{P}(\psi^{-1})$. Hence $\mathbb{P}\psi$ is invertible with inverse $\mathbb{P}(\psi^{-1})$.

3.2.5. Remark. Here is a one-line category-theoretic proof of Lemma 3.2.4: since \mathbb{P} is a functor, it takes isomorphisms to isomorphisms.

3.2.6. Lemma. Suppose (G, \mathcal{P}) , (G', \mathcal{P}') are two networks, $\xi_a : I(a) \to G$ the input tree of a vertex a of G, $\xi_{a'} : I(a') \to G'$ the input tree of a vertex a' of G', and $\varphi : I(a) \to I(a')$ an isomorphism of trees with $\mathcal{P}' \circ \xi_{a'} \circ \varphi = \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a$. Then the linear map

$$\operatorname{Ctrl}(\varphi) : \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a) \to \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a') \to \mathbb{P}a')$$
 (3.2.1)

defined by

$$\operatorname{Ctrl}(\varphi) : (F : \mathbb{P}I(a) \to T\mathbb{P}a) \mapsto D(\mathbb{P}\varphi|_{\{a\}})^{-1} \circ F \circ \mathbb{P}\varphi$$
 (3.2.2)

is an isomorphism. Here $\varphi|_{\{a\}} : \{a\} \to \{a'\}$ is the restriction of φ to the subgraph $\{a\}$ of G (by Remark 2.3.6, φ has to send a to a'); it is an isomorphism.

Proof. By assumption $\varphi : (I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi) \to (I(a'), \mathcal{P}' \circ \xi')$ is an isomorphism of networks. By Lemma 3.2.4, the maps $\mathbb{P}\varphi$ and $\mathbb{P}\varphi|_{\{a\}}$ are diffeomorphisms. Therefore $\mathsf{Ctrl}(\varphi)$ has an inverse given by

$$(F': \mathbb{P}I(a') \to T\mathbb{P}a') \mapsto D(\mathbb{P}(\varphi|_{\{a\}})) \circ F \circ \mathbb{P}\varphi^{-1}.$$

It follows that we may define the functor $\rho : \mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P}) \to \text{Vect on isomorphisms of the groupoid } \mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ by setting

$$\rho(\varphi) := \mathsf{Ctrl}(\varphi).$$

3.2.7. Lemma. Given three networks (G, \mathcal{P}) , (G', \mathcal{P}') and (G'', \mathcal{P}'') , and a pair of isomorphism of input networks

$$(I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi) \xrightarrow{\varphi} (I(a'), \mathcal{P}' \circ \xi')) \xrightarrow{\psi} (I(a''), \mathcal{P}'' \circ \xi''),$$

we have

$$\mathsf{Ctrl}(\psi \circ \varphi) = \mathsf{Ctrl}(\psi) \circ \mathsf{Ctrl}(\varphi). \tag{3.2.3}$$

Proof. For $F \in Ctrl(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a)$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{Ctrl}(\psi \circ \varphi)F &= D(\mathbb{P}(\psi \circ \varphi)|_{\{a\}}^{-1}) \circ F \circ \mathbb{P}(\psi \circ \varphi) \\ &= D((\mathbb{P}\varphi|_{\{a\}} \circ \mathbb{P}\psi|_{\{a'\}})^{-1}) \circ F \circ \mathbb{P}\varphi \circ \mathbb{P}\psi \\ &\quad \text{(since } \mathbb{P} \text{ is a contravariant functor)} \\ &= D(\mathbb{P}\psi|_{\{a'\}})^{-1}) \circ (D(\mathbb{P}\varphi|_{\{a'\}})^{-1}) \circ F \circ \mathbb{P}\varphi) \circ \mathbb{P}\psi \\ &= \mathsf{Ctrl}(\psi)(\mathsf{Ctrl}(\varphi)F). \end{aligned}$$

We are now in a position to prove the main result of the section.

3.2.8. Proposition. The symmetry groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ of a network (G, \mathcal{P}) acts on the vector bundle Control $(G, \mathcal{P}) \rightarrow G_0$. The action is given by

$$\left((I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a) \xrightarrow{\varphi} (I(b), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_b)\right) \mapsto \left(\mathsf{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a) \xrightarrow{\mathsf{Ctrl}(\varphi)} \mathsf{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(b) \to \mathbb{P}b)\right),$$

where $Ctrl(\varphi)$ is defined by (3.2.2).

Proof. We need to check that the three conditions listed in Remark 3.2.3 hold for $\rho(\varphi) = \text{Ctrl}(\varphi)$. The first one holds by Lemma 3.2.6, and the second by Lemma 3.2.7. Note finally that by construction if $\varphi : I(a) \rightarrow I(a)$ is the identity isomorphism then $\text{Ctrl}(\varphi)$ is the identity linear map. We conclude that the functor

$$\rho = \mathsf{Ctrl} : \mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P}) \to \mathsf{Vect}$$

defines an action of the groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ on the vector bundle $\text{Control}(G, \mathcal{P})$.

Our next step is to define the space of invariant sections of the vector bundle $Control(G, \mathcal{P}) \rightarrow G_0$ for this action, which is, by definition, the space of invariant virtual vector fields on the network.

3.2.9. Definition (Invariant virtual vector fields on a network). Let (G, \mathcal{P}) be a network We define the space $\mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ of *groupoid-invariant virtual vector fields* on the network to be

$$\mathbb{V}G \equiv \mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P}) := \{(w_a) \in \mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P}) \mid \mathsf{Ctrl}(\sigma)w_a = w_b \text{ for all } \sigma \in \mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P}) \text{ with } \sigma \colon I(a) \to I(b)\}.$$
(3.2.4)

3.2.10. Example. Consider the network of Example 3.1.1. It is easy to see that

$$\mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P}) = \{ (f_1, f_2, f_3) \in \mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P}) \mid f_1 = f_2 = f_3 \},\$$

where, as before $f_i : M \times M \to TM$ are control systems. Note that in this case the space of invariant virtual vector fields is naturally isomorphic to the space $Ctrl(\mathbb{P}I(1) \to \mathbb{P}1) =$ $Ctrl(M \times M \to TM)$. Note also that $Ctrl(M \times M \to TM)$ is the space of invariant virtual vector fields for the network (G', \mathcal{P}) where

$$G' = \bigcirc$$

is the graph with one vertex and one edge and the function \mathcal{P} assigns the manifold M to the unique vertex of G'.

3.2.11. Remark. The reader may wonder in what sense the sections in $\mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ are "invariant." There are several ways to answer this question. We start with the most concrete one. Note that the space W^H of *H*-invariant vectors for a representation $\rho : H \to GL(W)$ of a *group H* satisfies

$$W^{H} = \{ w \in W \mid \rho(\sigma)w = w \text{ for all } \sigma \in H \}.$$
(3.2.5)

It is easy to see now that (3.2.4) is an analogue of (3.2.5) for groupoids.

More abstractly, we note that the space W^H is the limit of the functor $\rho : \underline{H} \to \text{Vect.}$ Here \underline{H} denotes the category with one object * and the set of morphisms Hom(*, *) = H. Similarly it is not hard to see that $\mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ as defined above by (3.2.4) together with the evident projections $\mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P}) \to \text{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a)$ is the limit of the functor Ctrl : $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P}) \to \text{Vect.}$

3.2.12. Remark. We would like to think of the image $\mathscr{I}(\mathbb{V}G)$ of the space $\mathbb{V}G$ of invariant virtual vector fields under the interconnection map $\mathscr{I} : \mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P}) \to \Gamma T \mathbb{P}(G, \mathcal{P})$ as the space of "groupoid-invariant vector fields" on $\mathbb{P}(G, \mathcal{P})$. Note that this is *not* literally correct since there is no natural action of the groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ either on the tangent bundle $T\mathbb{P}(G, \mathcal{P})$, or on the space of its sections.

3.2.13. Remark. As observed in Remark 2.3.5, the graph underlying the input tree network $(I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a)$ of a network (G, \mathcal{P}) is a directed tree of height 1. If $\varphi : T_1 \to T_2$ is an isomorphism of trees of height 1, then φ necessarily sends the root rt T_1 of the first tree to the root rt T_2 of the second tree. Hence if $\varphi : (T_1, \mathcal{P}_1) \to (T_2, \mathcal{P}_2)$ is an isomorphism of networks and T_1, T_2 are trees of height 1, it makes sense to define

$$\operatorname{Ctrl}(\varphi) : \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}T_1 \to \mathbb{P}\operatorname{rt} T_1) \to \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}T_2 \to \mathbb{P}\operatorname{rt} T_2)$$

by a slight modification of (3.2.2):

$$\operatorname{Ctrl}(\varphi)F := D\mathbb{P}(\varphi|_{\operatorname{rt} T_1})^{-1} \circ F \circ \mathbb{P}\varphi.$$
(3.2.6)

The proof of Proposition 3.2.8 is then easy to modify to show that that Ctrl is a welldefined functor from the groupoid of height 1 tree networks and their isomorphisms to the category Vect of (not necessarily finite-dimensional) real vector spaces and linear maps.

3.3. An alternative notion of modularity

Throughout the paper we take the point of view that a network is a directed graph G together with an assignment of a phase space to each vertex of G, that is, a pair

$$(G, \mathcal{P}: G_0 \rightarrow \text{collection of phase spaces}).$$

Golubitsky, Stewart and their collaborators in their work on coupled cell networks additionally attach colors to edges of graphs. They require that maps of networks preserve the colors. In particular, edges of input trees acquire colors from their canonical maps into the defining graphs, and symmetry groupoids consist of color preserving isomorphisms. Thus from the point of view of Golubitsky et al. we work with monochromatic graphs. The results of this paper do have their colored analogues. The proofs, *mutatis mutandis*, are the same. See [74].

4. Fibrations and invariant virtual vector fields

We proved in Proposition 2.1.12 that a map of networks $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ defines a smooth map $\mathbb{P}\varphi : \mathbb{P}G' \to \mathbb{P}G$ between their total phase spaces (going in the opposite direction). The map φ , in general, does not induce a map between the spaces of vector fields on the phase spaces $\mathbb{P}G$ and $\mathbb{P}G'$. Nor does it induce a map between the spaces of virtual vector fields $\mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P})$ and $\mathbb{S}(G', \mathcal{P}')$, let alone the spaces of groupoid-invariant virtual vector fields $\mathbb{V}G$ and $\mathbb{V}G'$. There is, however, a natural class of maps of networks that does. Following Boldi and Vigna [64] we call them *fibrations*. The notion of a graph fibration is old. It arose independently at different times in different areas of mathematics under different names. See [75] for a discussion.

The goal of this section is to prove that a fibration of networks $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ naturally defines a linear map $\varphi^* : \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}') \to \mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$. In the following sections we show that the maps φ^* and $\mathbb{P}\varphi$ and the interconnection maps of the two networks are compatible in the best possible way. Consequently, fibrations of networks give rise to maps of dynamical systems.

4.1. Fibrations

4.1.1. Definition. A map $\varphi : G \to G'$ of directed graphs is a *fibration* if for any vertex *a* of *G* and any edge e' of G' ending at $\varphi(a)$ there is a unique edge *e* of *G* ending at *a* with $\varphi(e) = e'$.

A map of networks $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ is a *fibration* if the corresponding map of graphs $\varphi : G \to G'$ is a fibration.

4.1.2. Example. The map of graphs



sending γ to γ' and δ to δ' is a graph fibration.

4.1.3. Example. All the maps of graphs in (1.4.4) are graph fibrations. If we define the phase spaces functions on the three graphs by assigning to every node the same manifold M then the corresponding maps of networks are fibrations.

4.1.4. Given any maps $\varphi : G \to G'$ of graphs and a node *a* of *G*, there is an induced map of input trees

$$\varphi_a: I(a) \to I(\varphi(a)).$$

On edges of I(a) the map is defined by

$$\varphi(a, \gamma) := (\varphi(a), \varphi(\gamma))$$

(cf. Definition 2.3.1). Moreover the diagram of graphs



commutes (the map $\xi_a : I(a) \to G$ from an input tree to the original graph is defined in Remark 2.3.3).

4.1.5. Lemma. If $\varphi : G \to G'$ is a graph fibration then the induced maps $\varphi_a : I(a) \to I(\varphi(a))$ of input trees defined above are isomorphisms for all nodes a of G.

Proof. Given an edge $(\varphi(a), \gamma')$ of $I(\varphi(a))$ there is a unique edge γ of G with $\varphi(\gamma) = \gamma'$ and $t(\gamma) = a$. Consequently, $\varphi_a(a, \gamma) = (\varphi(a), \gamma')$. It follows that φ_a is bijective on vertices and edges.

4.1.6. Corollary. If a map of networks $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ is a fibration then

$$p_a: (I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a) \to (I(\varphi(a)), \mathcal{P}' \circ \xi_{\varphi(a)})$$

is an isomorphism of networks.

(

Proof. This follows immediately from Lemma 4.1.5 above and the definition of an isomorphism of networks.

4.2. Maps between spaces of invariant virtual vector fields

The goal of this subsection is to show that fibrations of networks send groupoid-invariant virtual vector fields to groupoid-invariant virtual vector fields. Namely we prove:

4.2.1. Proposition. A fibration $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ of networks defines a linear map $\varphi^* : \mathbb{S}(G', \mathcal{P}') \to \mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P})$ between spaces of sections of control bundles, that is, between spaces of virtual vector fields on the networks in question.

Moreover φ^* maps the space $\mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}')$ of groupoid-invariant virtual vector fields to the space $\mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$.

Proof. Recall (Definition 2.4.1) that $\mathbb{S}(G, \mathcal{P}) = \prod_{a \in G_0} \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a)$. We define

$$\varphi^*: \prod_{a' \in G'_0} \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a') \to \mathbb{P}a') \to \prod_{a \in G_0} \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a)$$

by

$$(\varphi^* w')_a := \operatorname{Ctrl}(\varphi_a)^{-1}(w'_{\varphi(a)})$$

for all $a \in G_0$. Evidently φ^* is linear.

0

φ

We now argue that invariant sections get mapped to invariant sections. Consider $w' \in \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}')$. Let $\sigma : (I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a) \to (I(b), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_b)$ be an isomorphism in the groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$. Since φ is a fibration, the maps

$$\varphi_a : (I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a) \to (I(\varphi(a)), \mathcal{P}' \circ \xi_{\varphi(a)})$$

and

$$_b: (I(b), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_b) \to (I(\varphi(b)), \mathcal{P}' \circ \xi_{\varphi(b)})$$

are isomorphisms. Therefore

$$\varphi_b \circ \sigma \circ \varphi_a^{-1} : (I(\varphi(a)), \mathcal{P}' \circ \xi_{\varphi(a)}) \to (I(\varphi(b)), \mathcal{P}' \circ \xi_{\varphi(b)})$$

is an isomorphism of networks, hence an isomorphism in the groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G', \mathcal{P}')$. Since w' is $\mathbb{G}(G', \mathcal{P}')$ -invariant by assumption, we have

$$\operatorname{Ctrl}(\varphi_b \circ \sigma \circ \varphi_a^{-1}) w'_{\varphi(a)} = w'_{\varphi(b)}.$$

Since Ctrl is a functor on networks of height 1 trees (Remark 3.2.13), it respects compositions and takes inverses to inverses. Consequently,

$$\operatorname{Ctrl}(\varphi_b) \circ \operatorname{Ctrl}(\sigma) \circ \operatorname{Ctrl}(\varphi_a)^{-1} w'_{\varphi(a)} = w'_{\varphi(b)}.$$

Thus

$$\operatorname{Ctrl}(\sigma)(\varphi^*w')_a = \operatorname{Ctrl}(\sigma) \circ \operatorname{Ctrl}(\varphi_a)^{-1} w'_{\varphi(a)} = \operatorname{Ctrl}(\varphi_b)^{-1} w'_{\varphi(b)} = (\varphi^*w')_b,$$

which proves that $\varphi^* w' \in \mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$.

4.2.2. Remark. The proof above shows that a fibration $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ also induces a fully faithful map of groupoids $\mathbb{G}(\varphi) : \mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P}) \to \mathbb{G}(G', \mathcal{P}')$ given by

$$\left((I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a) \xrightarrow{\sigma} (I(b), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_b)\right) \mapsto \left((I(\varphi(a)), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_{\varphi(a)}) \xrightarrow{\varphi_b \circ \sigma \circ \varphi_a^{-1}} (I(\varphi(b)), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_{\varphi(b)})\right)$$

4.2.3. Remark. Here is an alternative, more geometric, way to think of Proposition 4.2.1 and its proof. The collection of maps

$$\{\mathsf{Ctrl}(\varphi_a):\mathsf{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a)\to\mathbb{P}a)\to\mathsf{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(\varphi(a))\to\mathbb{P}\varphi(a))\}$$

define a map of vector bundles

$$\tilde{\rho}$$
: Control(G, \mathcal{P}) \rightarrow Control(G', \mathcal{P}'),

which restricts to an isomorphism on each fiber. Hence $\text{Control}(G, \mathcal{P}) \to G_0$ is the pullback of $\text{Control}(G', \mathcal{P}') \to G'_0$. Consequently, sections of $\text{Control}(G', \mathcal{P}') \to G'_0$ pull back to sections of $\text{Control}(G, \mathcal{P}) \to G_0$. Moreover the vector bundle map $\tilde{\varphi}$ intertwines the actions of the groupoids $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ and $\mathbb{G}(G', \mathcal{P}')$. Hence invariant sections pull back to invariant sections.

4.2.4. Remark. In Section 6 below we show that somewhat surprisingly the map φ^* : $\mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}') \to \mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ of Proposition 4.2.1 is always surjective. We also characterize its kernel. In particular if $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ is a quotient map (in the setting of coupled cell networks the fibers of such a φ are equivalence classes of a balanced equivalence relation) then $\varphi^* : \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}') \to \mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ is an isomorphism.

4.3. Fibrations and maps of dynamical systems

The goal of this subsection is to prove that fibrations of networks give rise to maps between dynamical systems. This is arguably the main result of the paper. Here is a precise statement:

4.3.1. Theorem. Let φ : $(G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ be a fibration of networks. Then for any groupoid-invariant virtual vector field $w' \in \mathbb{V}G'$ the map $\mathbb{P}\varphi : \mathbb{P}G' \to \mathbb{P}G$ intertwines the vector fields $\mathscr{I}'(w')$ and $\mathscr{I}(\varphi^*w')$:

$$D(\mathbb{P}\varphi) \circ \mathscr{I}'(w') = \mathscr{I}(\varphi^* w') \circ \mathbb{P}\varphi.$$
(4.3.1)

Equivalently the diagram

commutes.

4.3.2. Remark. Note that by Proposition 4.2.1, since w' is a groupoid-invariant virtual vector field on the network (G', \mathcal{P}') , the pullback φ^*w' is a groupoid-invariant virtual vector field on the network (G, \mathcal{P}) , i.e., $\varphi^*w' \in \mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$.

Proof of Theorem 4.3.1. Recall that the manifold $\mathbb{P}G$ is the product $\prod_{a \in G_0} \mathbb{P}a$. Hence the tangent bundle $T\mathbb{P}G$ is the product $\prod_{a \in G_0} T\mathbb{P}a$. In particular for each node a of G, the canonical projection $T\mathbb{P}G \to T\mathbb{P}a$ is the differential of the map $\mathbb{P}\iota_a : \mathbb{P}G \to \mathbb{P}a$. Here, as before, $\iota_a : \{a\} \hookrightarrow G$ is the canonical inclusion of graphs. By the universal property of products, two maps into $T\mathbb{P}G$ are equal if and only if all their components are equal. Therefore, in order to prove that (4.3.2) commutes it is enough to show that

$$D\mathbb{P}\iota_a \circ \mathscr{I}(\varphi^* w') \circ \mathbb{P}\varphi = D\mathbb{P}\iota_a \circ D\mathbb{P}\varphi \circ \mathscr{I}'(w')$$

for all nodes $a \in G_0$. By definition of the restriction $\varphi|_{\{a\}}$ of $\varphi : G \to G'$ to $\{a\} \hookrightarrow G$, the diagram $\varphi|_{\{a\}}$

commutes. By the definition of the pullback map φ^* and the interconnection maps $\mathscr{I}, \mathscr{I}'$ the diagram $T\mathbb{P}_{\alpha} \subset T\mathbb{P}_{\alpha}(\alpha)$

$$\mathcal{J}(\varphi^* w')_a \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{P}\varphi_{a} & \mathbb{P}\varphi_{a} \\ \mathbb{P}I(a) & \mathbb{P}\varphi_{a} \\ \mathbb{P}I(a) & \mathbb{P}\varphi_{a} \\ \mathbb{P}G & \mathbb{P}\varphi_{a} \\ \mathbb{P}G & \mathbb{P}G \\ \mathbb{P}G & \mathbb{P}G \\ \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{P}\varphi_{a} & \mathbb{P}g_{a} \\ \mathbb{P}G & \mathbb{P}G \\ \mathbb{P}G & \mathbb{P}G \\ \mathbb{P}G & \mathbb{P}G \\ \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(4.3.4)$$

commutes as well. We now compute:

$$D\mathbb{P}_{\iota_{a}} \circ \mathscr{I}(\varphi^{*}w') \circ \mathbb{P}\varphi = (\mathscr{I}(\varphi^{*}w'))_{a} \circ \mathbb{P}\varphi \qquad \text{by definition of } \mathscr{I}(\varphi^{*}w')_{a}$$

$$= D\mathbb{P}(\varphi|_{\{a\}}) \circ \mathscr{I}'(w')_{\varphi(a)} \qquad \text{by (4.3.4)}$$

$$= D\mathbb{P}(\varphi|_{\{a\}}) \circ D\mathbb{P}_{\iota_{\varphi(a)}} \circ \mathscr{I}'(w') \qquad \text{by definition of } \mathscr{I}'(w')_{\varphi(a)}$$

$$= D\mathbb{P}\left(\iota_{\varphi(a)} \circ \varphi|_{\{a\}}\right) \circ \mathscr{I}'(w') \qquad \text{since } \mathbb{P} \text{ is a contravariant functor}$$

$$= D\mathbb{P}\left(\varphi \circ \iota_{a}\right) \circ \mathscr{I}'(w') \qquad \text{by (4.3.3)}$$

$$= D\mathbb{P}(\iota_{a}) \circ D\mathbb{P}\varphi \circ \mathscr{I}'(w'). \qquad \Box$$

4.3.3. Remark. In Lemma 5.1.1 below we show that surjective fibrations of networks give rise to embeddings of dynamical systems. Since balanced equivalence relations of the groupoid formalism of Golubitsky et al. [39–63] define quotient networks, each balanced equivalence relation give rise to a surjective maps of graphs and hence to surjective fibration of networks in our sense. Thus a special case of Theorem 4.3.1 generalizes one direction of the groupoid formalism correspondence between invariant subspaces and balanced equivalence relations from ordinary differential equations to vector fields on manifolds. More specifically Theorem 4.3.1 is a generalization, to manifolds, of Theorem 5.2 (direction (b)) of [60] and of Theorem 9.2 of [56]. We do not attempt to establish the converse. More specifically, we do not attempt to characterize submanifolds of total phase spaces of networks that are preserved by all groupoid invariant vector fields—we are only speaking about the "forward" direction.

5. Dynamical consequence of Theorem 4.3.1

In this section, we will discuss the implications of Theorem 4.3.1. Consider a fibration $\varphi: (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ of networks. Then φ defines a map $\varphi_0: G_0 \to G'_0$ from the set of vertices of G to the set of vertices of G'. In general φ_0 is neither injective nor surjective. However if a graph fibration $\varphi: G \to G'$ is surjective on vertices, it is automatically surjective on edges. Similarly if a graph fibration $\varphi: G \to G'$ is injective on vertices, then it is injective on edges as well. From now on we simply talk about injective and surjective graph fibrations.

Next observe that a given fibration $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ can always be factored as a map onto its image followed by the inclusion of the image:

$$(G, \mathcal{P}) \xrightarrow{\varphi} (\varphi(G), \mathcal{P}') \xrightarrow{\iota} (G', \mathcal{P}').$$

Hence any fibration can be factored as a surjection followed by an injection. We next analyze surjective and injective fibrations of networks.

5.1. Surjective fibrations

5.1.1. Lemma. Suppose φ : $(G, \mathcal{P}) \rightarrow (G', \mathcal{P}')$ is a surjective fibration. Then $\mathbb{P}\varphi$: $\mathbb{P}G' \rightarrow \mathbb{P}G$ is an embedding whose image is a "polydiagonal"

$$\Delta_{\varphi} = \{ x \in \mathbb{P}G \mid x_a = x_b \text{ whenever } \varphi(a) = \varphi(b) \}.$$

Proof. Assume first for simplicity that G' has only one vertex * and $\mathcal{P}'(*) = M$. Then for any vertex a of G we have

$$\mathcal{P}(a) = \mathcal{P}'(\varphi(a)) = \mathcal{P}'(*) = M,$$

 $\mathbb{P}G' = M$ and $\mathbb{P}G = M^{G_0}$, where as before G_0 is the set of vertices of the graph G. By Proposition 2.1.12 the map $\mathbb{P}\varphi : M \to M^{G_0}$ is of the form

$$\mathbb{P}\varphi(x) = (x, \dots, x)$$

for all $x \in M$.

In general

$$\mathbb{P}\varphi:\mathbb{P}G'=\prod_{a'\in G'_0}\mathcal{P}'(a')\to\prod_{a'\in G'_0}\left(\prod_{a\in\varphi^{-1}(a')}\mathcal{P}'(a')\right)=\mathbb{P}G$$

is the product of maps of the form

$$\mathcal{P}'(a') \to \prod_{a \in \varphi^{-1}(a')} \mathcal{P}'(a'), \quad x \mapsto (x, \dots, x).$$

5.1.2. Example. We consider the following surjective fibration $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ of networks. We take *G* to be the graph

$$1 \qquad 3 \qquad \cdots \qquad 2n-2 \qquad 2n-1 \qquad 2n \qquad (5.1.1)$$

with 2n vertices $(n \ge 2)$. We choose a phase space function \mathcal{P} that assigns a manifold M to all odd-numbered vertices and a (different) manifold N to all even-numbered vertices. We take G' to be the graph

with two vertices and two arrows. We set $\mathcal{P}'(a) = M$ and $\mathcal{P}'(b) = N$. We define the surjective fibration $\varphi \colon G \to G'$ by setting

$$\varphi(n) = \begin{cases} a, & n \text{ odd,} \\ b, & n \text{ even.} \end{cases}$$

The corresponding total phase space map $\mathbb{P}\varphi: M \times N \to (M \times N)^n$ is given by

$$\mathbb{P}(x, y) = (x, y, x, y, \dots, x, y).$$

The groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G', \mathcal{P}')$ is trivial. Consequently, $\mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}')$ consists of a pair of control systems $w'_a : M \times N \to TM$ and $w'_b : N \times M \to TN$. They interconnect to define a vector field $\mathscr{I}'(w') : M \times N \to TM \times TN$ with

$$\mathscr{I}'(w')(x, y) = (w'_a(x, y), w'_b(y, x))$$

for all $(x, y) \in M \times N = \mathbb{P}G'$.

The groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ is *not* trivial: all input networks corresponding to odd-numbered vertices are uniquely isomorphic. That is, given the vertices 2k+1 and $2\ell+1$, $k \neq \ell$, there is exactly one isomorphism $\psi_{k\ell} : I(2k+1) \rightarrow I(2\ell+1)$ as well $\psi_{\ell k} = \psi_{k\ell}^{-1} :$ $I(2\ell+1) \rightarrow I(2k+1)$. An analogous statement holds for input networks corresponding to even-numbered vertices.

The pullback map

$$\varphi^*: \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}') \to \mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$$

is easily seen to be given by

$$\varphi^*(w'_a, w'_b) = (w'_a, w'_b, \dots, w'_a, w'_b),$$

and $\mathscr{I}(\varphi^* w') \in \Gamma T(M \times N)^n$ is given by

$$\mathscr{I}(\varphi^*w')(x_1, y_1, \dots, x_n, y_n) = (w'_a(x_1, y_1), w'_b(y_1, x_1), \dots, w'_a(x_n, y_n), w'_b(y_n, x_n)).$$

It is clear that $\mathbb{P}\varphi(M \times N)$ is an invariant submanifold of the vector field $\mathscr{I}(\varphi^* w')$, as should be expected in light of Theorem 4.3.1.

5.2. Injective fibrations

Consider an injective fibration $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ of networks. Lemma 5.2.1 below shows that the map $\mathbb{P}\varphi : \mathbb{P}G' \to \mathbb{P}G$ of total phase spaces is a surjective submersion. Combining this with Theorem 4.3.1 we see that for any groupoid-invariant virtual vector field $w' \in \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}')$ the map

$$\mathbb{P}\varphi:(\mathbb{P}G',\mathscr{I}'(w'))\to(\mathbb{P}G,\mathscr{I}(\varphi^*w'))$$

is a projection of dynamical systems. In particular for any singular point x of the vector field $\mathscr{I}(\varphi^*w')$, i.e., the point where the vector field is zero, the fiber $\mathbb{P}\varphi^{-1}(x)$ is an invariant submanifold of the vector field $\mathscr{I}(w')$.

Note also that since the map of graphs $\varphi : G \to G'$ is injective, $\varphi : G \to \varphi(G)$ is an isomorphism. Since φ is also a graph fibration, there are no edges of G' with the source in $G' \setminus \varphi(G)$ and target in $\varphi(G)$. Thus the image of φ is a subsystem of G' that drives the dynamical system on G'. In other words, the notion of an injective fibration makes precise the intuitive idea of a subsystem driving a larger network.

5.2.1. Lemma. Suppose $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ is an injective fibration. Then $\mathbb{P}\varphi : \mathbb{P}G' \to \mathbb{P}G$ is a surjective submersion.

Proof. Since $\varphi : G \to G'$ is injective, the set G'_0 of nodes of G' can be partitioned as the disjoint union of the image $\varphi(G_0)$, which is a copy of G_0 , and the complement. Hence

$$\mathbb{P}G' \simeq \prod_{a \in G_0} \mathcal{P}(\varphi(a)) \times \prod_{a' \notin \varphi(G_0)} \mathcal{P}'(a') \simeq \mathbb{P}G \times \prod_{a' \notin \varphi(G_0)} \mathcal{P}'(a').$$

With respect to this identification of $\mathbb{P}G'$ with $\mathbb{P}G \times \prod_{a' \notin \varphi(G_0)} \mathcal{P}'(a')$ the map $\mathbb{P}\varphi : \mathbb{P}G' \to \mathbb{P}G$ is the projection

$$\mathbb{P}G \times \prod_{a' \notin \varphi(G_0)} \mathcal{P}'(a') \to \mathbb{P}G,$$

which is a surjective submersion.

5.2.2. Example. Consider the injective graph fibration



Choose phase space functions $\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{P}'$ so that $i : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ is a map of networks. By the discussion above, for any choice of a groupoid-invariant virtual vector field $w' \in \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}')$ the dynamics in the subsystem $(\mathbb{P}G, \mathscr{I}(i^*w'))$ drives the entire system $(\mathbb{P}G', \mathscr{I}(w'))$. This is intuitively clear from the graph (5.2.1) since there are no "feedbacks" from vertices 4, ..., 10 back into 1, 2, 3.

5.3. General maps

As observed at the beginning of the section, any fibration $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ can be factored as a surjection

$$\varphi: (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (\varphi(G), \mathcal{P}')$$

followed by the inclusion

$$i: (\varphi(G), \mathcal{P}') \hookrightarrow (G', \mathcal{P}')$$

It follows from the two subsections above that for any groupoid-invariant virtual vector field $w' \in \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}')$ the map of dynamical systems

$$\mathbb{P}\varphi:(\mathbb{P}G',\mathscr{I}'(w'))\to(\mathbb{P}G,\mathscr{I}(\varphi^*w'))$$

factors as a projection of dynamical systems

$$\mathbb{P}i:(\mathbb{P}G',\mathscr{I}'(w'))\twoheadrightarrow(\mathbb{P}\varphi(G),\mathscr{I}'(i^*w'))$$

followed by the embedding

$$(\mathbb{P}\varphi(G), \mathscr{I}'(i^*w')) \to (\mathbb{P}G, \mathscr{I}(\varphi^*w')).$$

5.3.1. Example. Consider the graph fibration



from Example 4.1.2. Choose a phase space function \mathcal{P}' on G' and define $\mathcal{P} : G_0 \to Man$ by $\mathcal{P}(a_1) = \mathcal{P}(a_2) = \mathcal{P}'(a), \mathcal{P}(b) = \mathcal{P}'(b)$. Then $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ is a fibration of networks. It factors as



6. Spaces of invariant virtual vector fields

The purpose of this section is to characterize further and more precisely the space of groupoid-invariant virtual vector fields on a network (G, \mathcal{P}) and to understand better the pullback maps $\varphi^* : \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}') \to (G, \mathcal{P})$ induced by fibrations of networks $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$.

6.1. The space $\mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ as a product of spaces of fixed vectors

It will be useful to introduce a bit more notation.

6.1.1. Notation. Given a network (G, \mathcal{P}) we have an evident bijection between the set G_0 of vertices of the graph G and the set $\mathbb{G}_0 = \{(I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a)\}_{a \in G_0}$ of objects of the groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$. It will be convenient to identify the two sets:

$$\mathbb{G}(G,\mathcal{P})_0=G_0.$$

6.1.2. Definition (Automorphism group). For a vertex *a* of a graph *G*, hence for an object of the symmetry groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ of a network (G, \mathcal{P}) , we set

Aut(*a*) := { ψ : (*I*(*a*), $\mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a$) \rightarrow (*I*(*a*), $\mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a$) | ψ is an isomorphism of networks}.

Clearly Aut(a) is a group under composition. We call it the *automorphism group* of the vertex a.

6.1.3. Remark. Note that Aut(*a*) is the collection of isomorphisms of the groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ with source and target *a*. By construction Aut(*a*) acts on the vector space $Ctrl(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a)$, the fiber of the bundle Control(G, \mathcal{P}) $\to G_0$. We denote the space of fixed vectors by $Ctrl(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a)^{Aut(a)}$.

6.1.4. Remark. In general, given an object *a* of a groupoid $\mathbb{H} = \{\mathbb{H}_1 \rightrightarrows \mathbb{H}_0\}$, we have a group Aut(*a*) consisting of isomorphisms of \mathbb{H} with source and target *a*.

6.1.5. Definition. Given a groupoid \mathbb{H} , we say that two objects *a* and *b* of \mathbb{H} are *isomorphic* if there is an isomorphism γ of \mathbb{H} with source *a* and target *b*.

6.1.6. Remark. It follows easily from the definition of a groupoid that being isomorphic is an equivalence relation on the objects. We denote the collection of isomorphism classes of objects of a groupoid \mathbb{H} by $\mathbb{H}_0/\mathbb{H}_1$ and denote the isomorphism class of an object *a* by [*a*].

6.1.7. Lemma. Let (G, \mathcal{P}) be a network. The space $\mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ of groupoid-invariant virtual vector fields is isomorphic (as a vector space) to the product

$$\bigsqcup_{[a]\in\mathbb{G}_0/\mathbb{G}_1} \mathsf{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a)\to\mathbb{P}a)^{\mathrm{Aut}(a)}.$$

Here, as in Remark 6.1.3, $Ctrl(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a)^{Aut(a)}$ *is the space of vectors fixed by the action of* Aut(a).

Proof. Suppose $w \in \mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ is an invariant section of $Control(G, \mathcal{P}) \to G_0$. Then for any node *a* of G_0 and any automorphism $\psi \in Aut(a)$ we have

$$\operatorname{Ctrl}(\psi)w_a = w_a.$$

Hence $w_a \in \operatorname{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a) \to \mathbb{P}a)^{\operatorname{Aut}(a)}$.

If a and b are two isomorphic objects in the groupoid $\mathbb{G}(G, \mathcal{P})$ by way of ψ : $(I(a), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_a) \to (I(b), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_b)$ then

$$w_b = \mathsf{Ctrl}(\psi)w_b.$$

It follows that if we pick representatives $a_1, \ldots, a_N \in G_0$ of the equivalence classes in $\mathbb{G}_0/\mathbb{G}_1$ then the restriction map

$$\mathbb{V}(G,\mathcal{P}) \to \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{N} \mathsf{Ctrl}(\mathbb{P}I(a_{i}) \to \mathbb{P}a_{i})^{\mathrm{Aut}(a_{i})}, \quad w \mapsto (w_{a_{1}}, \ldots, w_{a_{N}}),$$

is an isomorphism of vector spaces. This proves the lemma.

...

6.1.8. Example. Consider the network (G, \mathcal{P}) where G is the graph



and \mathcal{P} assigns the same manifold M to each vertex of G. Then the input trees of G are all of the form

$$a \longrightarrow b$$

and the corresponding input networks are all isomorphic. Moreover they have trivial automorphism groups. Consequently,

$$\mathbb{V}(G,\mathcal{P})\simeq \mathsf{Ctrl}(M\times M\to TM).$$

This is quite small compared to the space of all vector fields on the total phase space $\mathbb{P}G \simeq M^{10}$.

6.2. Maps between spaces of invariant virtual vector fields

The goal of this subsection is to understand the pullback map $\varphi^* : \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}') \to \mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ between groupoid-invariant virtual vector fields induced by a fibration $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P})$ of networks. We will see that φ^* is always surjective. To describe its kernel we need the following concept.

6.2.1. Definition. Let $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P})$ be a fibration of networks. The *essential image* essim $\varphi \subset G'_0$ of φ consists of all the vertices $a' \in G'_0$ for which there is an isomorphism

$$\psi: (I(a'), \mathcal{P}' \circ \xi_{a'}) \to (I(\varphi(a)), \mathcal{P} \circ \xi_{\varphi(a)})$$

of input networks for some vertex a of G.

We say that φ is essentially surjective if essim $\varphi = G'_0$.

6.2.2. Example. The map



of networks is not surjective. But it is essentially surjective if $\mathcal{P}'(i) = \mathcal{P}'(j)$ for all $1 \le i < j \le 10$, i.e., if we assign the same manifold to all vertices of the graphs.

6.2.3. Theorem. Let $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ be a fibration of networks. Then $\varphi^* : \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}') \to \mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ is surjective. The kernel of φ^* is the space

$$\ker \varphi^* = \{ w' \in \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}') \mid w'_{a'} = 0 \text{ for all } a' \in \operatorname{essim} \varphi \},\$$

where $\operatorname{essim} \varphi$ is the essential image of φ defined above.

Proof. For $w' \in \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}')$ the pullback $\varphi^* w'$ is zero if and only if $(\varphi^* w')_a = 0$ for all $a \in G_0$. Since $(\varphi^* w')_a = \operatorname{Ctrl}(\varphi_a)^{-1} w_{\varphi(a)}$ (see proof of Proposition 4.2.1) and since

 $\operatorname{Ctrl}(\varphi_a)^{-1}$ is an isomorphism, we conclude that

 $\varphi^* w' = 0 \iff w'_{\varphi(a)} \text{ for all } a \in G_0.$

Finally note that an invariant section $w' \in \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}')$ vanishes on the image of φ if and only if it vanishes on the essential image of φ .

6.2.4. Corollary. If $\varphi : (G, \mathcal{P}) \to (G', \mathcal{P}')$ is an essentially surjective fibration of networks then $\varphi^* : \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}') \to \mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ is an isomorphism. In particular φ^* is an isomorphism if φ is surjective.

6.2.5. Example. Consider the map *i* of networks in Example 6.2.2. Since *i* is injective and essentially surjective, the map $i^* : \mathbb{V}(G', \mathcal{P}') \to \mathbb{V}(G, \mathcal{P})$ is an isomorphism. Compare with Example 6.1.8. Clearly the map *i* is very far from being surjective.

6.2.6. Remark. As pointed out in Remark 4.3.3, in the groupoid formalism of Golubitsky *et al.* the quotient maps defined by balanced equivalence relations are surjective. Hence the spaces of groupoid-invariant vector fields on a network and on its quotient by a balanced equivalence relation are always isomorphic.

Acknowledgments. The authors thank the anonymous referees for many valuable comments that led to significant improvements in the paper. L.D. was supported by the National Science Foundation under grant CMG-0934491 and by the National Aeronautics and Space Administration under grant NASA- NNA13AA91A.

References

- [1] Smale, S.: Differentiable dynamical systems. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 73, 747–817 (1967) Zb1 0202.55202 MR 0228014
- [2] Alligood, K. T., Sauer, T. D., Yorke, J. A.: Chaos. An Introduction to Dynamical Systems. Springer, New York (1997) Zbl 0867.58043 MR 1418166
- [3] Devaney, R. L.: An Introduction to Chaotic Dynamical Systems. Westview Press, Boulder, CO (2003). Reprint of the 2nd (1989) edition Zbl 1025.37001 MR 1979140
- [4] Poincaré, H.: Les méthodes nouvelles de la mécanique céleste. Tome I. Solutions périodiques. Non-existence des intégrales uniformes. Solutions asymptotiques. Dover Publ., New York (1957) Zbl 0079.23801 MR 0087812
- [5] Poincaré, H.: Les méthodes nouvelles de la mécanique céleste. Tome II. Méthodes de MM. Newcomb, Gyldén, Lindstedt et Bohlin. Dover Publ., New York (1957) Zbl 0079.23801 MR 0087813
- [6] Poincaré, H.: Les méthodes nouvelles de la mécanique céleste. Tome III. Invariants intégraux. Solutions périodiques du deuxième genre. Solutions doublement asymptotiques. Dover Publ., New York (1957) Zbl 0079.23801 MR 0087814
- Hirsch, M. W., Smale, S.: Differential Equations, Dynamical Systems, and Linear Algebra.
 Pure Appl. Math. 60, Academic Press, New York (1974) Zbl 1135.37002 MR 2144536
- [8] Brin, M., Stuck, G.: Introduction to Dynamical Systems. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge (2002) Zbl 1314.37002 MR 1963683
- [9] Yoccoz, J.-C.: Centralisateurs et conjugaison différentiable des difféomorphismes du cercle. In: Petits diviseurs en dimension 1, Astérisque 231, 89–242 (1995) Zbl 0836.30001 MR 1367354

- [10] Aubry, S.: The twist map, the extended Frenkel–Kontorova model and the devil's staircase.
 In: Order in Chaos (Los Alamos, NM, 1982), Phys. D 7, 240–258 (1983) Zbl 0559.58013 MR 0719055
- [11] Mather, J. N.: Existence of quasiperiodic orbits for twist homeomorphisms of the annulus. Topology 21, 457–467 (1982) Zbl 0506.58032 MR 0670747
- [12] E, W.: Aubry–Mather theory and periodic solutions of the forced Burgers equation. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 52, 811–828 (1999) Zbl 0916.35099 MR 1682812
- [13] Rogers, E. M., Kincaid, D. L.: Communication Networks: Toward a New Paradigm for Research. Free Press (1981)
- [14] Knight, B. W.: Dynamics of encoding in a population of neurons. J. General Physiology 59, 734–766 (1972)
- [15] Ermentrout, G. B., Kopell, N.: Frequency plateaus in a chain of weakly coupled oscillators, I. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 15, 215–237 (1984) Zbl 0558.34033 MR 0731864
- [16] Kuramoto, Y.: Collective synchronization of pulse-coupled oscillators and excitable units. Phys. D 50, 15–30 (1991) Zbl 0736.92001
- [17] Kuramoto, Y.: Chemical Oscillations, Waves, and Turbulence. Springer Ser. Synergetics 19, Springer, Berlin (1984) Zbl 0558.76051 MR 0762432
- [18] MacKay, D.: Information Theory, Inference, and Learning Algorithms. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge (2003) Zbl 1055.94001 MR 2012999
- [19] Dayan, P., Abbott, L. F.: Theoretical Neuroscience: Computational and Mathematical Modeling of Neural Systems. MIT Press (2001) Zbl 1051.92010 MR 1985615
- [20] Bower, J. M., Bolouri, H. (eds.): Computational Modeling of Genetic and Biochemical Networks. MIT Press (2001)
- [21] Shmulevich, I., Dougherty, E. R., Kim, S., Zhang, W.: Probabilistic boolean networks: a rulebased uncertainty model for gene regulatory networks. Bioinformatics 18, 261–274 (2002)
- [22] Alvarez-Buylla, E. R., Benítez, M., Balleza Dávila, E., Chaos, Á., Espinosa-Soto, C., Padilla-Longoria, P.: Gene regulatory network models for plant development. In: Growth and Development, C. Kuhlemeier and N. Sinha (eds.), Current Opinion in Plant Biology 10, 83–91 (2007)
- [23] Wilkinson, D. J.: Stochastic Modelling for Systems Biology. Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL (2006) Zbl 1099.92004 MR 2222876
- [24] Peskin, C. S.: Mathematical Aspects of Heart Physiology. Courant Inst. Math. Sci., New York Univ., New York (1975) Zbl 0301.92001 MR 0414135
- [25] Tyson, J. J., Keener, J. P.: Singular perturbation theory of traveling waves in excitable media (a review). Phys. D 32, 327–361 (1988) Zbl 0656.76018 MR 0980194
- [26] Kapral, R., Showalter, K. (eds.): Chemical Waves and Patterns. Springer (1994)
- [27] Ermentrout, G. B., Rinzel, J.: Reflected waves in an inhomogeneous excitable medium. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 56, 1107–1128 (1996) Zbl 0858.92009 MR 1398410
- [28] Keener, J. P., Sneyd, J.: Mathematical Physiology. Interdisciplinary Appl. Math. 8, Elsevier (1998) Zbl 0913.92009 MR 1673204
- [29] Feinberg, M.: Chemical reaction network structure and the stability of complex isothermal reactors—I. The deficiency zero and deficiency one theorems. Chemical Engrg. Sci. 42, 2229– 2268 (1987)
- [30] Feinberg, M.: Necessary and sufficient conditions for detailed balancing in mass action systems of arbitrary complexity. Chemical Engrg. Sci. 44, 1819–1827 (1989)
- [31] Schlosser, P. M., Feinberg, M.: A theory of multiple steady states in isothermal homogeneous CFSTRs with many reactions. Chemical Engrg. Sci. 49, 1749–1767 (1994)
- [32] Feinberg, M.: The existence and uniqueness of steady states for a class of chemical reaction networks. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 132, 311–370 (1995) Zbl 0853.92024 MR 1365832

- [33] Craciun, G., Tang, Y., Feinberg, M.: Understanding bistability in complex enzyme-driven reaction networks. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 103, 8697–8702 (2006) Zbl 1254.93116
- [34] Shinar, G., Alon, U., Feinberg, M.: Sensitivity and robustness in chemical reaction networks. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 69, 977–998 (2009) Zbl 1195.80023 MR 2476587
- [35] Anderson, D., Craciun, G., Kurtz, T.: Product-form stationary distributions for deficiency zero chemical reaction networks. Bull. Math. Biol. 72, 1947–1970 (2010) Zbl 1201.92069 MR 2734052
- [36] Gaubert, S., Gunawardena, J.: A non-linear hierarchy for discrete event dynamical systems. In: Proc. Fourth Workshop on Discrete Event Systems (Cagliari, 1998), 6 pp.
- [37] Gunawardena, J.: Chemical reaction network theory for in-silico biologists. Lecture notes (2012); http://jeremy-gunawardena.com/papers/crnt.pdf
- [38] Mairesse, J., Nguyen, H.-T.: Deficiency zero Petri nets and product form. In: G. Franceschinis and K. Wolf (eds.), Applications and Theory of Petri Nets, Lecture Notes in Computer Sci. 5606, Springer, 103–122 (2009) Zbl 1242.68183
- [39] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I.: Hopf bifurcation in the presence of symmetry. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 11, 339–342 (1984) Zbl 0554.58045 MR 0752793
- [40] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I.: Hopf bifurcation in the presence of symmetry. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 87, 107–165 (1985) Zbl 0588.34030 MR 0765596
- [41] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I.: Hopf bifurcation with dihedral group symmetry: coupled nonlinear oscillators. In: Multiparameter Bifurcation Theory (Arcata, CA, 1985), Contemp. Math. 56, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 131–173 (1986) Zbl 0602.58038 MR 0855088
- [42] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I.: Symmetry and stability in Taylor–Couette flow. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 17, 249–288 (1986) Zbl 0603.76053 MR 0826694
- [43] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I.: Generic bifurcation of Hamiltonian systems with symmetry (with an appendix by J. Marsden). Phys. D 24, 391–405 (1987) Zbl 0612.58013 MR 0887860
- [44] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I., Schaeffer, D. G.: Singularities and Groups in Bifurcation Theory. Vol. II. Appl. Math. Sci. 69, Springer, New York (1988) Zbl 0691.58003 MR 0950168
- [45] Field, M., Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I.: Bifurcations on hemispheres. J. Nonlinear Sci. 1, 201– 223 (1991) Zbl 0791.35044 MR 1118985
- [46] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I., Dionne, B.: Coupled cells: wreath products and direct products. In: Dynamics, Bifurcation and Symmetry (Cargèse, 1993), NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci. 437, Kluwer, Dordrecht, 127–138 (1994) Zbl 0810.34028 MR 1305373
- [47] Dellnitz, M., Golubitsky, M., Hohmann, A., Stewart, I.: Spirals in scalar reaction-diffusion equations. Int. J. Bifur. Chaos Appl. Sci. Engrg. 5, 1487–1501 (1995) Zbl 0886.58102 MR 1372633
- [48] Dionne, B., Golubitsky, M., Silber, M., Stewart, I.: Time-periodic spatially periodic planforms in Euclidean equivariant partial differential equations. Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A 352, 125–168 (1995) Zbl 0851.35108 MR 1374008
- [49] Dionne, B., Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I.: Coupled cells with internal symmetry. I. Wreath products. Nonlinearity 9, 559–574 (1996) Zbl 0894.58049 MR 1384492
- [50] Dionne, B., Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I.: Coupled cells with internal symmetry. II. Direct products. Nonlinearity 9, 575–599 (1996) Zbl 0894.58050 MR 1384493
- [51] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I., Buono, P.-L., Collins, J. J.: A modular network for legged locomotion. Phys. D 115, 56–72 (1998) Zbl 1039.92009 MR 1616780
- [52] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I.: Symmetry and pattern formation in coupled cell networks. In: Pattern Formation in Continuous and Coupled Systems (Minneapolis, MN, 1998), IMA Vol. Math. Appl. 115, Springer, New York, 65–82 (1999) Zbl 0987.37041 MR 1708862
- [53] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I.: The Symmetry Perspective. Progr. Math. 200, Birkhäuser, Basel (2002) Zbl 1031.37001 MR 1891106

- [54] Golubitsky, M., Knobloch, E., Stewart, I.: Target patterns and spirals in planar reactiondiffusion systems. J. Nonlinear Sci. 10, 333–354 (2000) Zbl 0965.35084 MR 1752601
- [55] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I.: Patterns of oscillation in coupled cell systems. In: Geometry, Mechanics, and Dynamics, Springer, New York, 243–286 (2002) Zbl 1017.37045 MR 1919832
- [56] Stewart, I., Golubitsky, M., Pivato, M.: Symmetry groupoids and patterns of synchrony in coupled cell networks. SIAM J. Appl. Dynam. Systems 2, 609–646 (2003) Zbl 1089.34032 MR 2050244
- [57] Golubitsky, M., Nicol, M., Stewart, I.: Some curious phenomena in coupled cell networks. J. Nonlinear Sci. 14, 207–236 (2004) Zbl 1136.37359 MR 2041431
- [58] Golubitsky, M., Pivato, M., Stewart, I.: Interior symmetry and local bifurcation in coupled cell networks. Dynam. Systems 19, 389–407 (2004) Zbl 1067.37066 MR 2107649
- [59] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I.: Synchrony versus symmetry in coupled cells. In: EQUADIFF 2003, World Sci., Hackensack, NJ, 13–24 (2005) Zbl 1112.34020 MR 2185000
- [60] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I., Török, A.: Patterns of synchrony in coupled cell networks with multiple arrows. SIAM J. Appl. Dynam. Systems 4, 78–100 (2005) Zbl 1090.34030 MR 2136519
- [61] Golubitsky, M., Stewart, I.: Nonlinear dynamics of networks: the groupoid formalism. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 43, 305–364 (2006) Zbl 1119.37036 MR 2223010
- [62] Golubitsky, M., Josić, K., Shea-Brown, E.: Winding numbers and average frequencies in phase oscillator networks. J. Nonlinear Sci. 16, 201–231 (2006) Zbl 1130.37345 MR 2229942
- [63] Golubitsky, M., Shiau, L., Stewart, I.: Spatiotemporal symmetries in the disynaptic canal-neck projection. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 67, 1396–1417 (2007) Zbl 1129.92015 MR 2341755
- [64] Boldi, P., Vigna, S.: Fibrations of graphs. Discrete Math. 243, 21–66 (2002) Zbl 0988.05073 MR 1874725
- [65] Field, M.: Combinatorial dynamics. Dynam. Systems 19, 217–243 (2004) Zbl 1058.37008 MR 2084549
- [66] Agarwal, N., Field, M.: Dynamical equivalence of networks of coupled dynamical systems: I. Asymmetric inputs. Nonlinearity 23, 1245–1268 (2010) Zbl 1197.37017 MR 2646065
- [67] Aguiar, M., Ashwin, P., Dias, A., Field, M.: Dynamics of coupled cell networks: synchrony, heteroclinic cycles and inflation. J. Nonlinear Sci. 21, 271–323 (2011) Zbl 1254.37053 MR 2788857
- [68] Silverman, J. H.: Moduli Spaces and Arithmetic Dynamics. CRM Monogr. Ser. 30, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI (2012) Zbl 1247.37004 MR 2884382
- [69] Awodey, S.: Category Theory. Oxford Logic Guides 49, Oxford Univ. Press, New York (2006) Zbl 1100.18001 MR 2229319
- [70] Willems, J. C.: On interconnections, control, and feedback. IEEE Trans. Automatic Control 42, 326–339 (1997) Zbl 0872.93034 MR 1435822
- [71] Brockett, R. W.: Control theory and analytical mechanics. In: The 1976 Ames Research Center (NASA) Conference on Geometric Control Theory (Moffett Field, CA, 1976), Math Sci Press, Brookline, MA, 1–48 (1977) Zbl 0368.93002 MR 0484621
- [72] Tabuada, P., Pappas, G. J.: Quotients of fully nonlinear control systems. SIAM J. Control Optim. 43, 1844–1866 (2005) Zbl 1116.93024 MR 2137504
- [73] Westman, J. J.: Locally trivial C^r groupoids and their representations. Pacific J. Math. 20, 339–349 (1967) Zbl 0155.49805 MR 0211351
- [74] DeVille, L., Lerman, E.: Dynamics on networks I. Combinatorial categories of modular continuous-time systems. arXiv:1008.5359v2 (2010)
- [75] Vigna, S.: http://vigna.dsi.unimi.it/fibrations/